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To be the leading Credit Union Co-
operative in the Caribbean. 

TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society 
Limited is committed to:
• The co-operative philosophy and principles 

of volunteerism, thrift, democratic 
governance – one member one vote, 
member ownership and control and the 
respect for the individual employee and for 
his/her well being.

• The interest of our members at all times
• An established code of ethics including 

confidentiality, integrity, honesty and 
mutual respect.

To improve the quality of life and sustain the 
confidence of our members by providing 
excellent returns, innovative products and 
superior services through trustworthy, 
committed and well trained employees 
and volunteers whilst maintaining good 
governance. 
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MISSION

VALUES

• Visionary leadership, prudent 
management and compliance 
with statutory regulatory bodies

• Continuous improvement of 
services and the introduction 
of innovative products for the 
satisfaction of members

• An environment of excellence, 
through continuous 
organizational learning, friendly 
and courteous service

• Preservation of the 
environment 

• Good corporate citizen 
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As we look back to our 2015 results, we 
celebrate our 70th anniversary with platinum 
and sapphires.
Seven decades of service to Trinidad and 
Tobago means over three generations of people 
helping people: a co-operative philosophy 
that brings stability, longevity and strength to 
TECU’s members regardless of the ups and 
downs of the economy.
Ten years ago, at our 60th anniversary, we said 
“it’s only just begun”, and today, at our 70th, 
thanks to the confidence of our members and 
the dedication of our employees, TECU is going 
strong!

ABOUT OUR
COVER
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NATIONAL ANTHEM OF 
TRINIDAD & TOBAGO

Forged from the love of liberty

In the fires of hope and prayer,

With boundless faith in our destiny

We solemnly declare:

Side by side we stand,

Islands of the blue Caribbean Sea.

This our native land,

We pledge our lives to thee.

Here every creed and race 

Find an equal place,

And may God bless our Nation.

Here every creed and race

Find an equal place, 

And may God bless our Nation.

(Pat Castagne)

Lord, make me an instrument of thy Peace.

Where there is hatred, Let me sow Love.

Where there is injury, Pardon;

Where there is doubt, Faith;

Where there is despair, Hope;

Where there is darkness, Light;

And where there is sadness, Joy.

 

O Divine Master, 

Grant that I may not so much seek

To be consoled as to console;

To be understood as to understand;

To be loved as to love;

For it is in giving that we receive;

It is in pardoning that we are pardoned;

And it is in dying 

That we are born to eternal life.

(St. Francis of Assisi)

CREDIT UNION PRAYER
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
(NO 69/2016)

Notice is hereby given that the 69th Annual General Meeting of TECU CREDIT UNION 
CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED will be held at the PETROTRIN Pointe-A-Pierre Club 
on Friday 22nd April 2016 at 4.30 p.m.

Registration commences at 2.30 p.m.  

· Receive the reports of the Board of Directors, Supervisory, Credit and Education 
Committees and the Financial Statements of the Credit Union for the year ended 
31 December, 2015.

· Recommend the dividend to be paid to members for the year ended 31 
December, 2015.

· Elect Officers.

· Appoint Auditors.

· Resolutions.

· Transact other ordinary business of the Credit Union.

Sandra Matthews-Noel 
Honorary Secretary AGENDA

1. Call to order

2. Reading of notice convening meeting 

3. Confirmation of minutes and matters arising there 
from – Annual General Meeting No. 68/2015

4. Motion that the financial statements and all reports 
as presented be taken as read

5. Adoption of reports:
(a) Board of Directors
(b) Supervisory Committee
(c) Credit Committee
(d) Education Committee
(e) Nominating Committee

6. Adoption of financial statements

7. Election of Officers:
(a) Supervisory Committee – 5
(b) Credit Committee – 5 
(c) Board of Directors – 4 

8. Movement of Resolutions

9. Reading of Correspondence 

10. Presentation of Awards 

11. Discussion of general business 

12. Destroying of the ballots

13. Vote of thanks 
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STANDING ORDERS 

1. (a) A member shall stand when addressing the Chairman.
 (b) Speeches are to be clear and relevant to the subject before the meeting. 
2. A member shall only address the meeting when called upon by the Chairman 

to do so, after which, he/she shall immediately take his/her seat.
3. No member shall address the meeting except through the Chairman.
4. A member may not speak twice on the same subject except: 

(a) The mover of a motion who has the right of reply
(b) He/she rises to object or to explain (with the permission of the Chairman).

5. The mover of a “Procedural Motion” (Adjournment, lay on the table, Motion to 
Postpone) shall have no right of reply.

6. No speeches are to be made after the “Question” has been put and carried 
or negated.

7. A member rising on a “Point of Order” is to state the point clearly and 
concisely. (A point of Order” must have relevance to the Standing Orders).

8. A member shall not “Call another member to order” but may draw the 
attention of the Chair to a “Breach of Order”.

9. Only one amendment should be before the meeting at one and the same 
time.

10. When a motion is withdrawn, any amendment to it fails.
11. The Chairman shall have the right to a “casting vote”.
12. If there is equality of voting on an amendment, and if the Chairman does not 

exercise his casting vote, the amendment is lost.
13. Provision is to be made for protection by the Chairman from vilification 

(personal abuse).
14. No member shall impute improper motives against another member. 
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1.0 CALL TO ORDER
1.1 The Chairman, Mr. Ronald F. Jones called the meeting to order at 4:30 pm and 

the National Anthem was sung by all present.

2.0 INVOCATION
2.1 The members present recited the Credit Union prayer, led by Mrs. Sandra 

Matthews-Noel.

3.0 MINUTE OF SILENCE
3.1 A minute of silence was observed for members who had passed during the 

previous year.

4.0 SAFETY BRIEFING
4.1 A Safety Briefing was given by Mr. Andre Gomez of the PETROTRIN Fire 

Department, Pointe-a-Pierre.

5.0 NOTICE CONVENING MEETING
5.1 The Chairman advised that there were two hundred and eighty-nine (289) 

members registered at the time of convening the meeting. As such, there was a 
quorum. He invited the Honorary Secretary, Mrs. Sandra Matthews-Noel to read 
the notice of the Annual General Meeting.

MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 2015
No. 68/2015 HELD ON FRIDAY 10th APRIL 2015
AT THE PETROTRIN POINTE-A-PIERRE CLUB
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MINUTES OF ANNUAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

6.0 PRESIDENT’S ADDRESS
6.1 On behalf of the Board of Directors, Mr. Ronald F. Jones welcomed all to the 68th 

Annual General Meeting.
6.2 For the benefit of the young members, he grasped the opportunity to give a brief 

history of the Credit Union, which was founded on September 9th, 1946, with only 
$33.48.

6.3 He added that all members should be thankful for the foundation set by earlier officers 
and urged the younger ones to come forward to offer their services to ensure that the 
organisation continued from strength to strength.

6.4 Mr. Jones reminded the members that there was one particular situation facing the 
Credit Union Movement in relation to the impending Credit Union Bill and warned that 
it would be faced with major challenges as it was standing on the threshold for drastic 
transformation, as the authorities change their approach to Credit Unions.

6.5 He advised that since 2006, there had been moves to change the way in which Credit 
Unions were regulated. The changes were founded on the desire of the succeeding 
Governments of Trinidad & Tobago to make this country the leading financial centre in 
the Caribbean, and the need to ensure that we did not make it easy to finance terrorist 
activities or to allow criminals to obtain money illegally. He also added  that these 
measures would allow us to comply with international standards. 

6.6 He said that previous Governors of the Central Bank of Trinidad & Tobago (CBTT) 
stated that the amount of resources under the control of the Credit Unions made the 
case for regulation. He read an excerpt from an address made by Mr. Ewart Williams at 
a Breakfast Seminar hosted by CUNA Mutual Group, CUNA Caribbean and the Trinidad 
& Tobago Unit Trust Corporation on November 6th, 2003, which stated “In my view, the 
larger open style Credit Unions should in fact be subject to a regulatory regime, similar 
to what obtains for the banks and non-banks. This more stringent regime should place 
emphasis on good governance and risk management structures”.

6.7 Additionally, he advised that Mr. Williams concluded his address saying that “… 
because the Credit Union Movement is now intermediating significant financial 
resources and assumes greater risk, it would have to contend with higher international 
regulatory standards”.



9 ANNUAL REPORT 2015

MINUTES OF ANNUAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

6.8 Mr. Jones also quoted a statement made by the current Governor of the CBTT, Mr. 
Jwala Rambarran, who in his address made at the 53rd AGM of the Telephone Workers 
Credit Union on March 16th, 2013, offered two reasons why Credit Unions should 
be regulated by the CBTT. The first was that they took deposits from members and 
second, that the World Council of Credit Unions (WOCCU) supported the idea that 
Credit Unions should be regulated by the agency regulating other financial institutions. 

6.9 The President stated, however, that while WOCCU supported this idea, the approach 
was significantly different. WOCCU maintained that the ministry or agency that 
regulates financial institutions should supervise Credit Unions through a specialised 
unit, trained in their nature, risk and methodologies. He added that as responsible 
citizens and members of the Credit Union Movement, there was an appreciation for 
the need to ensure that our country met international regulations and accepted the 
need for same. However, Credit Unions do not want to be treated as banks.

6.10 Mr. Jones advised that while the Movement admitted that there was need for 
regulation of the sector, since development of the sector has not been as uniform 
as we would have liked, one concern shared was the ability of the CBTT to resist 
the temptation to treat Credit Unions as banks. Credit Unions currently operate on 

the principle of one vote per member, 
regardless of the amount of shares 
the member has. The proposed bill, 
however, limited a member to owning 
no more than one fifth of the shares of 
a Credit Union, but more importantly, it 
set up two kinds of shares, permanent 
shares and withdrawable shares. The 
owners of permanent shares would 
enjoy a different status. This clearly was 
a separation of owners and customers, 
as obtains in the case of other financial 
institutions.
6.11 In addition, under the 
proposed Bill, members would no 
longer have unlimited freedom to elect 
Directors, and elected Directors would 
have to meet the requirements set out 
in Part 7 of the Bill. The Central Bank 
would therefore have the power to 
require the Credit Union to establish 
other committees than it currently 
considers necessary. Volunteerism in 
the Credit Union would also be eroded 
under the proposed Bill, and the Board 
of Directors and the members would 
no longer be able to determine when 
dividends can be paid, since the Bill 
stipulated conditions that must be met 
before dividends could be paid.
In conclusion, Mr. Jones advised that 
the tertiary education requirements 
of Directors would remove those 
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MINUTES OF ANNUAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

uncertified individuals who have 
provided the foundation on which many 
of our Credit Unions were built. As such, 
he urged the members not to allow 
this to happen, and to be aware of the 
events and activities of the Credit Union, 
to ensure that they were protected. 
Remember the credo of the Credit Union 
“Not for profit, not for charity, but 
for service”.

7.0 ADOPTION OF STANDING 
ORDERS
7.1 A motion for the adoption of the 
Standing Orders was moved by Mr. Kent 
Byer and seconded by Mrs. Josephine 
Henry. All were in favour of the motion.

8.0 ERRORS AND OMISSIONS
8.1 Page 9; Item 10.1.22; Line 3; “Police Credit Union (Mr. Fitzroy Fredericks), should read 

“Police Credit Union (Mr. Fitzroy Frederick)”.
8.2 Page 18; Item 16.26 The name Derek Assoon, should read …Dexter Assoon.

9.0 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
The Chairman acknowledged the presence of representatives of the Office of the Commissioner 
for Co-operative Development (Ms. Irene Hamid, Ms. Debra-Ann Scott, Ms. Karlene Cayenne, Ms. 
Marina Pierre, Mr. Terrance Jules, Ms. Syrilia Alvarez, Ms. Allyson Manohar, Ms. Marsha Padoo, 
Ms. Aazida Mohammed); HOBSONS (Mr. Romney Thomas); Girwar & Deonarine (Mr. Michael 
Kalliecharan); Canning’s Credit Union (Mr. Stephen Atwell – General Manager); and Police Credit 
Union (Mr. Fitzroy Frederick).

10.0 ADOPTION OF MINUTES AND MATTERS ARISING FROM ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING NO.  
 67/2014

10.1 The Minutes of the 67th Annual General Meeting, without any further errors and 
omissions, were confirmed for adoption on a motion moved by Mrs. Tracy Ramsden-
Boyce and seconded by Mr. Orville Wolsey. All were in favour of the motion.

11.0 MATTERS ARISING
11.1 Miscellaneous
11.1.1  The Chairman advised that there were views that there should be another TECU brand 

that specialised in member services delivery. He indicated that subsequent to the last 
AGM, the advice and recommendations of the members were followed, and a Query 
Log and a Member Service Representative who walks the floor had been instituted. 

11.1.2 Additionally, relocation of the cash operations to the ground floor was intended to 
be in full operations by May 4th, 2015. He also informed the members present that 
all employees were trained in the area of member service relations. Following the 
training, the employees came up with the acronym “GUEST” (G-greet the member; 
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MINUTES OF ANNUAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

U-understand the member’s needs; E-empathize 
and hear the heartbeat of the member; S-serve the 
member; T-thank the member). ”GUEST” plaques 
were signed by the staff and displayed throughout 
the branches.
11.1.3 The Chairman also indicated that the 
website had been updated and the formal launch was 
expected to take place in May 2015. The Call Centre 
was in operation and the organisation continually 
added ways and means to make the member’s visit 
a happy one.
11.1.4 He advised that the social media 
network was also scheduled to be launched in the 
next two months, to allow all tech-savvy members 
to communicate with TECU via this platform. He 
indicated that the Board was trying to go paperless 
through the use of modern technology, using tablets 
to communicate in the conduct of the organisation’s 
business.
11.1.5 The General Manager, Brian Tangwell, 
advised that in addition to all the enhancements 
relative to member service, TECU had also done 
some re-engineering of some basic processes such 
as cheque collection and loan disbursement, and 
plans were underway for a new process for collection 
of statement letters.

11.1.6 He indicated that in the relocation of the Member Service area to the ground floor, there 
was also going to be a re-engineering of the processes, where tellers were expected to 
be at their stations more often than not, all with the view to improving member services.

11.1.7 Mr. Tangwell also advised that very soon a new fast deposit mechanism would be 
implemented on the ground floor of the Marabella Branch, and if successful, this would 
be introduced to the other branches. He indicated that TECU would soon be signing off 
on Internet and Mobile Banking Modules that would be purchased. It was expected that 
the new platform would significantly impact on the efficiency of service to the members.

11.1.8 Further, the Internet and Mobile Banking Modules were expected to be completed in 15 
months, which would mean that members could then access the goods and services of 
the Credit Union on a 24/7 basis. 

11.1.9 The Chairman advised that a recent press release from the Governor of the Central 
Bank of Trinidad & Tobago (CBTT) indicated that he placed TECU in the first category 
of the policyholders who will be receiving 85% of their CLICO investments in the first 
phase of the re-payment process.

11.1.10 He reminded the members present that in 2010, because of the strength of its reserves, 
TECU was able to withstand the first hit of $28 million, and now the organisation would 
not only be recovering the principal but also the interest, which would allow it to rebuild 
its reserves to a healthy position.

11.1.11 The General Manager advised that there were five major phases identified with the 
Chaguanas Lands project, one of which (the backfilling) has been completed. The road 
reserve and the construction of the cul-de-sacs were on the verge of being completed, 
and three remaining phases still remain to be done (water reticulation, the paving of the 
roads and the electrification of the property). 
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MINUTES OF ANNUAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

11.1.12 He indicated that the lands were expected to be distributed by the middle of 2016. 
The Finance & Investment Committee was heavily engaged in the mechanism for 
distribution and pricing.

11.1.13 Mr. Tangwell also advised the members present that the Coral Reef facility was closed 
following the Easter holiday, to conduct the last phase of the Coral Reef development. 
He expressed that the facility was expected to be re-opened by mid-August 2015 and 
was confident that members would be happy with the new look and feel of the new 
facility, with full access to 27 rooms.

11.1.14 The General Manager indicated that in July 2014, a complete revision of the mortgage 
rates and an extensive marketing campaign was conducted and TECU was able to turn 
around the loan portfolio to realise a 2% growth and a significant improvement in the 
mortgage portfolio. He advised that TECU’s current rates were completely competitive 
on the market.

11.1.15 Additionally, he advised that TECU was the first Credit Union to engage in mortgage 
expos, one in the last quarter of 2014 and the second on March 21st, 2015, both of 
which were extremely successful. He articulated that as a result of this, in the last 
quarter of 2014, TECU was able to close $15 million in new mortgages, and as such, it 
was proposed to host a mortgage expo once every quarter.

11.1.16 Mr. Andrew Fifi advised that he borrowed money from TECU to do construction work 
and requested that the funds be transferred to his LinCU card. However, he expressed 
the view that the card was of no help to the members, as in the conduct of his business, 
a 15% fee had been added on for using the card.

11.1.17 Mr. Byer responded that the merchants have a contract with the vendors of these cards 
and the card machine and as such, it was the responsibility of the owner of the LinCU 
card to report any illicit activity.

11.1.18 The General Manager confirmed that Mr. Fifi had reported the matter to him and that 
TECU had been able to recover some of the money. Unfortunately, the charge that 
had been placed by the merchant was reported to LinCU, which was subsequently 
reported to the Linx network. Consequently, the Linx machine would have eventually 
been removed from the vendor.

11.1.19 Mr. Fifi also advised that he paid his loan instalments every Friday and that he was very 
disappointed with the type of service he received at TECU. In this regard, he said he 
hoped that more tellers would be made available and that the service at TECU would 
consequently be improved.

11.1.20 Mr. Samuel Cole, referring to page 8 (item 10.1.9) of the 2014 Annual Report, sought 
an update on the lands purchased in Lowlands, Tobago.

11.1.21 The President advised that no decision had been made as to the type of development 
for Lowlands, Tobago.

11.1.22 The General Manager added that TECU still continued to cover the cost for maintenance 
of the land. In addition, TECU will explore the use of alternative service providers in an 
attempt to effect cost savings. He indicated that as much as development was being 
conducted at Coral Reef, TECU had begun looking at the 10 acres of land at Lowlands 
with a view towards coming up with some development proposals for consideration. 

11.1.23 The Chairman advised that TECU’s land was adjacent to the residence of the Chief 
Secretary of the Tobago House of Assembly and as such, due care and attention was 
observed to ensure that he was not offended by the irregular maintenance of the land.

11.1.24 Mr. Anthony Soochit expressed the view that favouritism should not be part of 
the Chaguanas Land distribution and that it should be within reach of the financial 
capabilities of the members.
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MINUTES OF ANNUAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

11.1.25 The Chairman assured that the 
Chaguanas Lands would be fairly and equitably 
distributed, once the right mechanism was in 
place.
11.1.26 Mr. Beverly Ogiste-Fraser expressed 
the view that TECU was wasting time and money 
by sending statements with zero balances.

12.0 MOTION TO HAVE THE REPORTS OF 
THE ANNUAL REPORT TAKEN AS READ 
 A motion was moved by Mr. Shaffayate Ali and 
seconded by Mr. Hercial Vitalis. All were in 
favour of the motion.

13.0 BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT
13.1 Mrs. Tracey Ramsden-Boyce 
suggested that the graph on page 30 “Growth 
in Members 2010 –2014” seemed to be mis-
placed.
13.2 This observation was supported by the 
Chairman and the Honorary Treasurer, Mr. Mitra 
Attai.
13.3 Mrs. Ramsden-Boyce sought an 
explanation as to what might have contributed 
to the reduction in delinquency. 
13.4 The General Manager explained that 
the $1.9 million reduction in delinquency was in 
fact a true reduction in the rate and had nothing 
to do with the write-off of bad debts.

13.5 In relation to Lazzari & Sampson, Mrs. Ramsden-Boyce asked what portion of the 
$90,000 was rental income.

13.6 The Chairman advised that in eleven months of operation, the rental income received 
from Lazzari & Sampson was $78,261 and the commission received, as a result of the 
new alliance, was $12,316.94.

13.7 Mrs. Ramsden-Boyce articulated that while TECU received a commission for every 
member who utilised the service of Lazzari & Sampson, there was need to make sure 
that a proper tracking system was in place to ensure that TECU was not spending more 
on advertising campaigns than it was receiving returns with respect to Travel. 

13.8 Mrs. Ramsden-Boyce, referring to page 28 of the Annual Report, also sought clarification 
on “Loans to Members” and “Loans Granted”.

13.9 The General Manager explained that Loans to Members represented the loan portfolio 
as it was presented in the financials, while Loans Granted would be the amount of loans 
granted for the year.

13.10 Mrs. Cheryl Richards-Scott expressed concern for the high level of delinquency despite 
the decline and queried the method used to locating the delinquent individuals.
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CONSIDERATION
Nobody is too young or too old to chip in, lend a hand, 
begin making the world a better place. It just takes the 
decision to show consideration for the people around 
you. TECU’s principles of mutual benefit are founded on 
this premise. Let us help YOU!

we are going strong!at 70
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MINUTES OF ANNUAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

13.11 The Chairman confirmed that a delinquents’ list did exist and that the individuals could 
be located. However, he advised that there was a process to be followed through 
the Office of the Commissioner for Co-operative Development, and that the Credit 
Management Team continued to follow this process.

13.12 Mrs. Richards-Scott shared her observation that the Annual Brochure did not have any 
advertisement pertaining to Lazzari & Sampson.

13.13 Mrs. Tracey Ramsden-Boyce asked for the demographics used in the area of 
delinquency.

13.14 The General Manager explained that the membership in the Credit Union was in fact 
aging and that if TECU wanted to expand its loan portfolio, the demographic of the 
25-45 age group needed to be looked at. He added that the criteria for lending remain 
strong, so while TECU continued to grow the portfolio, it should be appreciated that the 
delinquency continued to be reduced in terms of dollar value and percentage.

13.15 He added that this demographic provided the perfect opportunity for TECU to grow its 
portfolio and advised that delinquency was not peculiar to any age demographic.

13.16 The Chairman took the opportunity to welcome Mr. David Moe from the Office of the 
Commissioner for Co-operative Development.

14.0 BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT
14.1 The Board of Directors’ Report was adopted by a motion moved by Mrs. Cheryl 

Richards-Scott and seconded by Mrs. Nadine Pirtheesingh. All were in favour of the 
motion.

15.0 SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE’S REPORT
15.1 Mrs. Tracey Ramsden-Boyce said that while an assessment of the strategies and 

Management’s performance criteria in relation to TECU’s Strategic Plan was conducted 
by the Supervisory Committee, she observed that there was no mention of the findings. 

15.2 Mr. Hercial Vitalis reported that the assessment revealed that there had been a number 
of initiatives that were implemented to meet the set targets, and advised that while 
some of them had been met, others were still in train to the target set and as such were 
not represented in the report.

15.3 The Chairman further explained that the Strategic Plan was a path guiding the 
organisation in a particular direction and an on-going, live process.
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MINUTES OF ANNUAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

15.4 Mrs. Ramsden-Boyce maintained 
that some statement should have 
been made in the report on the 
status of the Strategic Plan.

15.5 In response to Mrs. Ramsden-
Boyce’s query on the Committee’s 
research in the area of 
delinquency, Mr. Vitalis advised 
that there were certain Committee 
representatives assigned to 
investigate the delinquency 
portfolio and assured that this 
exercise was under control.

15.6 Mrs. Ramsden-Boyce insisted 
that the findings of this exercise 
should also have been mentioned in the Committee’s report.

15.7 Mr. Stephen Ramsden reported that it had been determined that the Credit Management 
Department responsible for delinquency needed to be restructured in order to 
become more efficient. This recommendation, he advised, had been submitted by the 
Supervisory Committee, but that it was unfortunately not highlighted in the Report.

15.8 He added that his investigation also revealed that the staff of the Credit Management 
Department was regularly late or absent, and that their time was spent preparing 
reports for the Board, and that not enough time was available to pursue delinquent 
members.

15.9 Mrs. Ramsden-Boyce asked for an explanation on the measuring method used to 
determine the improvement in Member Service.

15.10 Mr. Vitalis replied that the Supervisory Committee maintained dialogue with the General 
Manager and saw positive advancement in terms of addressing Member Service. 
He added that while the Committee did not conduct a statistical analysis, positive 
improvement had been observed.

15.11 The General Manager indicated that the organisation had dedicated a position of 
Member Services Officer on a trial basis, specifically to look at the area of Member 
Services. Additionally, two staff members operated on the floor to deal with members’ 
direct enquires, and equivalent positions were maintained at the Couva and Point Fortin 
branches.

15.12 He added that since the introduction of these positions, there had been a 42% reduction 
in listed queries. A query log also had been introduced to track members’ queries, and 
that there had been a reduction in the complaints and queries logged through the Call 
Centre.

15.13 The General Manager articulated that although it was recognised that there had 
been some improvement still to take place in the member service area, tracking 
measurements had been put in place that resulted in some level of improvement. He 
added that if a query was not addressed within one week, there was an escalation 
measure that had been put in place to the level of the Member Services Officer and the 
Branch Operations Officer.

15.14 Mrs. Ramsden-Boyce asked what recommendations were submitted to Management 
and what had been implemented to-date.



DISCIPLINE

we are going strong!at 70

Financial goals are only attained by discipline - whether 
you are a millionaire or still saving for your first car. 
It takes stick-at-it-ness to manage your expenses 
and make investment choices. Let TECU help you to 
develop a budget that you can stick to!
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15.15 The General Manager indicated that there had been some deficiencies highlighted by 
the Committee in terms of policy formation and identification. In addition, there were 
recommendations relative to staffing, delinquency and Member Services that were 
being addressed.

15.16 The Chairman added that the Management of TECU would have to evaluate the 
effectiveness of the recommendations made by the Supervisory Committee. 

15.17 A motion for the adoption of the Supervisory Committee’s Report was moved by Mr. 
Norman Arjoon and seconded by Ms. Marcia Greaves. All were in favour of the motion.

16.0 CREDIT COMMITTEE’S REPORT
16.1 A motion for the adoption of the Credit Committee Report was moved by Mr. Lester 

Maharaj and seconded by Mr. Norman Arjoon. All were in favour of the motion.

17.0 EDUCATION COMMITTEE’S REPORT
17.1 Mr. Shaffayate Ali congratulated the Education Committee for hosting the awards for 

Long Standing Members in November 2014. 
17.2 The Chairman also congratulated the Education Committee on the functions they hosted 

in 2014 and added that this year they would be charged with more responsibilities.
17.3 Mrs. Ramsden-Boyce sought an update on the Education Committee’s charge to look 

at a product specifically for the retirees.
17.4 Mr. Ian-Michael Haynes, Chairman of the Education Committee advised that the 

Committee had been challenged with determining exactly what it could do for the 
retirees. He indicated that one previous suggestion was an elderly care home, but while 
the committee continued to work with the Business Development Department to come 
up with a suitable product, members were welcome to submit any recommendation 
they felt could enhance the life of retirees.

17.5 Mr. Haynes confirmed that TECU does have a library and that the Education Committee 
recently conducted a cataloging exercise. He advised that although the mechanism for 
borrowing was still to be developed, there were approximately eighty-five (85) books 
available for lending to the members.

17.6 A motion for the adoption of the Education Committee’s Report was moved by Mr. 
Shaffayate Ali and seconded by Mr. Lester Maharaj. All were in favour of the motion.

18.0 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
18.1 The Chairman invited the representative, Ms. Deera Goorahoo from the independent 

auditing firm, KPMG to read the Auditors’ Report.
18.2 The Chairman took the opportunity to recognise the presence of Mr. Wayne Estrada of 

CUNA and the CLICO representative, Mr. Jemmott Manmohan.
18.3 The Honorary Treasurer, Mr. Mitra Attai referred to a misprint on page 60, note 9 of the 

Financial Statement, under Accumulated Depreciation and advised that “Adjustments” 
($32,790,680.00) was a misprint and should be deleted. He assured that the deletion 
would not affect the calculation.

18.4 Mrs. Cheryl Richards-Scott, queried the approach used to arrive at the total of 
$960,000.00 “Net pension cost” highlighted on page 63, item (d) of the Financial 
Statements.
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18.5 The Honorary Treasurer advised of his omission to indicate that the 2013 figures were 
re-stated after an evaluation done by the Actuaries, where it was realised that in 2013 
there was an inclusion of not only active members but also pensioners. As such the 
calculation was re-done, excluding the pensioners.

18.6 Mrs. Richards-Scott, referring to page 64; item 23 “Other Income (Expense)”, asked for 
an explanation for the omission of Point Fortin and a definition for “Miscellaneous”.

18.7 Mr. Attai explained that the figures highlighted did not reflect Credit Union operations.
18.8 Mrs. Richards-Scott advised that she had asked on previous occasions for a breakdown 

of the Administration and other expenses for the three (3) branches.
18.9 Mr. Attai admitted that the heading “Administration” might be mis-leading, and it also 

included the operation expenses for the three (3) branches. Additionally, he explained 
that the “Miscellaneous” figure on page 64 “Other Expenses” ($344,294.00) was a net 
of commission and a relocation of overheads.

18.10 Mrs. Richards-Scott suggested that TECU should consider getting rid of the Beach 
Houses but keep Balandra, since it was the only one that seems to be making money.

18.11 The Chairman asked Mrs. Richards-Scott to bear in mind that TECU currently had 
approximately 39,000 members and that the organisation positioned itself to facilitate 
the members who cannot afford international travel and resorts.

18.12 Mrs. Richards-Scott recommended that the organisation consider venturing into Eco-
tourism, which would be less expensive to maintain. 

18.13 Mr. Attai cited an error for correction on page 45 “Statement of Cash Flows”…year 
ended December 31, 2013 which should read ...year ended December 31, 2014.

18.14 Mr. Samuel Cole, referring to page 41 “Emphasis of Matter”, sought a clarification on 
Item (b) Note 2(n).

18.15 The General Manager explained that the practice observed by most Credit Unions in 
Trinidad was that interest was calculated and reported on a cash basis, which primarily 
meant that profit was declared on loan payments and was recorded as interest earned. 

18.16 He articulated that the process used by the Credit Unions was not common to the 
International Financial Standard, which used the accrual basis, but was supported by 
the Co-operative Societies Act.

18.17 The Chairman directed Mr. Cole to page 14; item 15.4, which supported the General 
Manager’s explanation.

19.0  ADOPTION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
19.1 A motion for the adoption of the Financial Statements was moved by Mr. Andrew Fifi and 

seconded by Mrs. Cheryl Richards-Scott. All were in favour of the motion.

20.0 ELECTION OF OFFICERS
20.1 The Vice President declared the following vacancies on the Board: Mr. Ronald F. Jones, 

Mr. Mitra Attai, Mrs. Gemma Warner and Mrs. Carol Pilgrim-Bristol, who advised that 
she was not seeking re-election.

20.2 Ms. Debra Ann Scott of the Office of the Commissioner for Co-operative Development 
was invited to preside over the election process.

20.3 Supervisory Committee: 
 Ms. Alisha Ramdeen nominated the following members: Mr. Anthony Solomon, Mr. 

Hinford Joseph, Ms. Inge Maurice, Ms. Dianne Lochan, Ms. Kym Chan Chow and Mr. 
Kenneth Lewis. This nomination was seconded by Mr. Wesley Huggins.
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20.4 Mrs. Lucy Ottley nominated Mr. Stephen Ramsden. This nomination was seconded by 
Mrs. Tracey Ramsden-Boyce.

20.5 A motion to cease nominations was moved by Mr. Hercial Vitalis and seconded by Mrs. 
Sandra Matthews-Noel. All were in favour of the motion.

20.6 The following members were elected to the Supervisory Committee:
 Mr. Anthony Solomon 222
 Mr. Hinford Joseph  178
 Ms. Kym Chan Chow  173
 Mr. Stephen Ramsden 172
 Ms. Inge Maurice  171
 Ms. Dianne Lochan  158 (1st Alternate)
 Mr. Kenneth Lewis  154 (2nd Alternate)
20.7 Credit Committee:
 Ms. Inge Maurice nominated the following members: Mrs. Lucy Ottley, Mrs. Inga 

Crichlow, Mr. Orville Wolsey, Ms. Michelle Badal and Mr. Wesley Huggins. This 
nomination was seconded by Mr. Stephen Tang.

20.8 Mrs. Majorie Leiba nominated Mr. Norman Arjoon. This nomination was seconded by 
Mr. Hercial Vitalis.

20.9 Mrs. Tracy Ramsden-Boyce nominated Mr. Shaffayate Ali. This nomination was 
seconded by Mr. Pariag.

20.10 A motion to cease nominations was moved by Mr. Hercial Vitalis and seconded by Mr. 
Anthony Solomon. All were in favour of the motion.
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20.11 The following members were elected to the Credit Committee:
 Mrs. Lucy Ottley  235
 Mrs. Inga Crichlow   231
 Mr. Wesley Huggins  190
 Ms. Michelle Badal  181
 Mr. Norman Arjoon  157
 Mr. Orville Wolsey  151 (1st Alternate)
 Mr. Shaffayate Ali  144 (2nd Alternate)
20.12 Board of Directors: 
 Mr. Derek Matthews-Noel nominated the following members: Mr. Ronald F. Jones, 

Mr. Mitra Attai, and Mrs. Gemma Warner.
20.13 This nomination was seconded by Mr. Hercial Vitalis.
20.14 Mrs. Lucy Ottley nominated the 

following members: Mr. Neal Ramasra, 
Mrs. Natalie Danclar-Rodney and Mr. 
Andre Hosein.

20.15 This nomination was seconded by Ms. 
Inge Maurice.

20.16 A motion to cease nominations was 
moved by Mr. Shaffayate Ali and 
seconded by Mr. Pariag. All were in 
favour of the motion.

20.17 The following members were elected to 
the Board of Directors:

 Mr. Ronald F. Jones  219
 Mrs. Gemma Warner  212
 Mr. Mitra Attai  207
 Mrs. Natalie Danclar-Rodney 155
 Mr. Andre Hosein  118 (1st 

Alternate)
 Mr. Neal Ramasra  96 (2nd Alternate)
20.18 A motion for the destruction of ballots was moved by Mr. Shaffayate Ali and 

seconded by Mrs. Cheryl Richards-Scott. All were in favour of the motion.

21.0 RESOLUTIONS
21.1 Appointment of Auditors
 A Resolution for the appointment of the Audit Firm KPMG as external Auditors for the 

financial period January 1st, 2015 to December 31st, 2015 was moved by Mr. Mitra 
Attai and seconded by Mr. Lester Maharaj. All were in favour of the motion.

21.2 Declaration of Dividend – 2.75% to be ratified
 A Resolution to declare the ratification of a dividend payment of 2.75% for the 

period January 1st, 2014 to December 31st, 2014 was moved by Mr. Mitra Attai and 
seconded by Mr. Kent Byer. All were in favour of the motion.

21.3 Bad Debts
 A Resolution that the sum of $827,742.00 be written-off by the Society was moved 

by Mr. Mitra Attai and seconded by Mr. Shaffayate Ali. All were in favour of the 
motion.
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 Mr. Attai advised that the amount to be written-off represented 70 loans, which 
comprised of seven vehicle loans, three mortgage loans and 60 computer loans.

 Mr. Shaffayate Ali asked whether extra effort had been made in an attempt to recover 
part of the money to be written off.

 The General Manager advised that the seventy loans were all in excess of five years 
and all of the shares and the security held, with the exception of $5.00 which was left 
to maintain the membership, were already applied to the loan. He indicated that in 
most of the cases, a substantive amount of the write-off figure represented interest 
accrued over the period.

 Mr. Tangwell assured that despite the write-off, all recovery efforts through the 
Commissioner for Co-operative Development or a collection agency were still 
applicable in some of the cases.

 Mr. Ali suggested that the names of the delinquent members should be published.
 The Chairman said that this is another opportunity for the Education Committee 

to sensitise TECU’s members on the importance of repaying their loans and the 
consequences of failing to fulfil their obligations.

21.4 Maximum Liability
 A Resolution that the maximum liability of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society 

Limited be set at $350 million was moved by Mr. Mitra Attai and seconded by Mrs. 
Sandra Matthews-Noel. All were in favour of the motion

22.0 PRESENTATION OF AWARDS
22.1 Member of the Year
The recipient of the Member of the Year was 
awarded to Mr. Ulric Brown, who contributed to 
almost all areas of the Credit Union’s products and 
services.
22.2 Door Prizes
1st Prize - $750.00 in TECU shares and a hamper, 
won by Ms. Channing Charles, holder of ticket #0366
2nd Prize - $550.00 in TECU shares and a hamper, 
won by Mrs. Wendy Phillip-Gittens, holder of ticket 
#0727
3rd Prize - $350.00 in TECU shares and a hamper, 
won by Ms. Maureen Stephenson, holder of ticket 
#337

23.0 PRESENTATION ON THE CREDIT UNION LEGISLATION
23.1 The Vice President, Mr. Kent Byer, updated the members present on the proposed 

Credit Union Legislation.

MINUTES OF ANNUAL MEETING (CONTINUED)
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24.0 GENERAL BUSINESS
24.1 Mr. Shaffayate Ali asked the Chairman to provide an update on the proposed 

Nominating Committee.
24.2 The Chairman advised that the numbering of the Bye-Laws had to be streamlined 

to include the two Resolutions which had been approved at TECU’s last Special 
General Meeting. He added that once this was done and the Bye-Laws approved, the 
Nominating Committee should be effective by 2016.

25.0 VOTE OF THANKS
25.1 The Annual General Meeting concluded at 8:23 pm with a vote of thanks by Mrs. 

Sandra Matthews-Noel.



26ANNUAL REPORT 2015

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12



27 ANNUAL REPORT 2015

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
1. Ronald F. Jones (President)
2. Kent Byer (Vice President)
3. Sandra Matthews-Noel (Hon. Secretary)  
4. Mitra Attai (Hon. Treasurer)    
5. Kenneth Allum
6. Leonard Chan Chow
7. Gregory Cova
8. Natalie Danclar-Rodney
9. Leroy Fermin
10. Ian-Michael Haynes
11. Gemma Warner
12. Brent Zephyrine

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12



28ANNUAL REPORT 2015

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Fellow Co-operators,

Your Board of Directors takes pleasure in submitting this report on its stewardship for the fiscal period 
under review January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015.  The following members comprised the Board:

Ronald F. Jones    President
Kent Byer   Vice President
Mitra Attai   Honorary Treasurer
Sandra Matthews-Noel  Honorary Secretary
Kenneth Allum    Member 
Leonard Chan Chow  Member
Gregory Cova   Member
Natalie Danclar-Rodney  Member
Leroy Fermin   Member
Ian-Michael Haynes  Member
Gemma Warner   Member
Brent Zephyrine    Member

TECU Credit Union Cooperative Society Limited (TECU) continues to be an exemplar in the financial 
services sector as one of the largest credit unions in our twin island republic, helping more than forty 
thousand (40,371 as at December 31, 2015) members enhance their quality of life and businesses. As 
a credit union, we are 100% owned by our members. We work only for them, with the surplus returned 
to our members in the form of the best products and services we can offer and a reasonable return on 
their investment by way of dividends. We are not motivated by short-term profit objectives. We take a 
long-term view and act in the best interests of our members and the communities in which they live.

We make an effort to know and engage our members via diverse media, so that we can proactively 
advise them on ways to save money, how to invest for their future and what financial solutions are in 
their best interest. TECU strives to combine exceptional member service with a full range of products 
and services:

• Call Centre 
• Website
• Competitive rates on loans and deposits 
• LinCU Debit Card facilities. 

Throughout our history, TECU has been known for its strong and stable foundation, prudent financial 
dealings, commitment to the philosophy of Credit Unionism and its unwavering obligation to the 
membership to provide support for all of their financial needs.

In 2015, TECU continued to aggressively execute its 2014 – 2018 Strategic Plan, which resulted in a return 
to meaningful growth. TECU recorded growth and improvement across all of its key indices despite a 
competitive environment. Assets grew to approximately $1.9 billion and the credit union recorded a 
Net Surplus, on core business, of $40.9 million (a 7% increase year over year) while growing Members’ 
shares to $1.4 billion (a 10.6% increase) and the loan base to $632.3 million (a 7% increase). In many 
regards 2015 was a significant year for TECU. It was a year in which we celebrated and leveraged our 
history of successes and learnings and simultaneously readied ourselves as an organization for the next 
ambitious leg of our growth journey. Part of that preparation included the revising of our Organizational 
Structure to afford greater efficiency, transparency and accountability and the expansion of our delivery 
channels to include a revised, interactive and dynamic website and the commencement of upgrading 
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our core operating system to provide greater efficiency and functionality. TECU also expanded its social 
media presence to connect, engage and educate our members about all matters of personal finance. 

The year 2015 was a “watershed” for advocacy and awareness in the Co-operative Sector. TECU played a 
leading role, alongside other credit unions in the movement, in petitioning the government to reconsider 
the Bill governing credit unions. We have also been taking an active role in the government-led consultations 
about the review of the Credit Union Bill and in doing so, TECU is taking a proactive approach to help create 
a stronger co-operative sector throughout Trinidad and Tobago.  

In March 2015, TECU continued to live its vision of being the “leading credit union” in the country by becoming 
the first credit union in Trinidad and Tobago to have partnered with the Ministry of Labour and Small Enterprise 
Development, in the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) for the future implementation of an 
HIV and AIDS Workplace Policy and Programme Development.

We recognize that low operating costs are a valuable financial and strategic advantage. In 2015, the 
management team began a benchmarking project to identify TECU’s direct environmental impact and 
develop measurable initiatives to reduce them in 2016 and beyond. The areas that have been investigated 
to-date have included electricity consumption, telephone usage, waste management and cleaning practices. 
In 2015, TECU recorded a 4% reduction in telephone and electricity expenses and management has already 
begun charting action plans to further support improved energy efficiency, waste management, procurement 
and transportation. 

As a member owned Organization, members’ thoughts, opinions and insights on how management and 
staff can continue to support and serve them better, matter. The Board of Directors would like to take this 
opportunity to thank those members who offered constructive suggestions and recommendations to 
positively differentiate TECU from other financial institutions. In 2015, management recorded a decrease in 
members’ complaints and an increase in positive feedback, most of which centered on the newly refurbished 
Marabella Branch and the resulting service improvements at all our locations.  

TECU prides itself on being ‘different’ from our competitors and we will focus on furthering that differentiation 
in everything we do and offer you. To our members, we at TECU thank you for your ongoing loyalty and we will 
continue to provide care and support during these challenging times ahead. 

ECONOMIC REVIEW

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) and World Bank estimates show a 3.1% global growth in 2015. 
Advanced economies experienced modest levels of growth whilst emerging and developing economies 
saw continued declines in their growth rates during the year. The slowdown in China and shift towards 
consumption and services related industries, impacted significantly on global growth. This, coupled with the 
sharp declines in energy and commodity prices and monetary policy changes in the United States, led to 
market uncertainty and a slowdown in global growth. 

Crude oil prices continued to tumble in 2015. After an approximate 66% plummet in prices from June 2014 
to December 2014, Brent crude oil prices declined a further 44% in 2015, from approximately US$55 a barrel 
to US$36 a barrel by December 2015. 

The Caribbean region’s vulnerability to 
adverse weather conditions, coupled with 
the declines in global commodity prices, 
affected a number of Caribbean territories 
in 2015. Overall unemployment fell in most 
countries but remained in the double digits 
arena for many. Foreign reserves fell in 
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we are going strong!at 70

No matter what the nature of your job is: in times of 
economic contraction, it’s really important to stay positive 
at work and to treat each customer of your company and 
each co-worker like royalty, all the time. Good things will 
come to you if you have a positive outlook and a cheery 
attitude at work!

POSITIVITY
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Barbados and all commodity exporting nations. According to the Caribbean Development Bank’s (CDB) 
2015/2016 report on the region, Trinidad and Tobago, Guyana and Suriname were affected the most by lower 
commodity prices. 

Despite the impact on the region due to commodity prices and weather conditions, tourism dependent 
countries saw some improvement in 2015. According to CDB statistics, most Caribbean destinations saw 
increases in visitor arrivals. Tourism-related construction accompanied these positive trends. The tourism-
dependent economies: Grenada, St. Kitts and Nevis and the Turks and Caicos Islands experienced growth 
of more than 4%. Aruba experienced 15% growth in stopover arrivals, whilst Barbados experienced a 15% 
increase in visitor arrivals.

The Trinidad and Tobago economy contracted consecutively for the first three quarters of 2015. The Central 
Bank of Trinidad and Tobago (CBTT) estimates a 1.5% contraction in the GDP growth rate. CBTT reports, 
showed net increases of 13.3% year on year in reserves, pushing the country to 12.5 months of import 
coverage, one of the highest in the wider Caribbean. 

Lower energy prices, coupled with declining output levels due in part to prolonged infrastructural works at 
major energy companies, have negatively impacted the domestic energy sector. On a year-on-year basis, 
the energy sector declined by a steep 7.3% in the third quarter of 2015, following a contraction of 3.3% in the 
first half of the year. Crude oil and natural gas production fell domestically from October to November 2015, 
negatively impacting the downstream industries.

Within the last quarter of 2015, layoffs were seen in the construction, manufacturing and energy sectors. The 
reported unemployment figure however, stood at a relatively low rate of 3.5 percent. 

The Central Bank increased its repo rate for the eighth consecutive time by 0.25% to 4.75% in December 
2015, citing “normalization of US Monetary Policy”. This increase marked an overall movement in the repo 
rate of 2% from 2.75% mid-2014 to its current rate of 4.75%.  Falling liquidity levels as well as the increases 
to the Repo Rate resulted in rising interest rates in 2015.

In line with current trends of global commodity exporters, prospects for real GDP growth in Trinidad and 
Tobago remain tentative. CBTT forecasts a further 1.5% deceleration in GDP in 2016 as the outlook for crude 
oil remains uncertain. Lower than budgeted oil prices are expected to weigh negatively on the country’s 
exports and investment flows.

In the non-energy sector growth is expected to be positive, albeit slower than in previous years. Capital 
projects undertaken primarily by the Central Government are expected to stimulate activity predominantly 
in the construction sub-sector, providing some measure of fiscal stimulus to the economy. The uncertainty 
surrounding the timing of the monetary policy normalization in the US remains an immediate downside risk 
to the economy of Trinidad and Tobago. 

Narrowing interest rate differentials could heighten risks of capital outflows and exchange rate pressures. 
Furthermore, potentially lower foreign exchange earnings will be as a result of two factors: lower energy 
prices coupled with lower tax revenues due to higher capital allowances for energy companies. Moreover, 
critical spending on security, healthcare and social programmes is expected to continue. Consequently, 
inflationary pressures may be stoked by higher-than-average fiscal injections as well as the possible effects 
of adverse weather conditions on the prices of agricultural supplies.

The budget was predicated on an oil price of US$45 per barrel and gas prices of US$ 2.75 per MMBTU. 
Energy prices have been consistently below estimates however and these pressures will place untold 

hardship on the economy.  Despite the Government’s commitment to maintain its current workforce, 
retrenchment in the private sector and the contractual arm of Government and Government entities 

continues. Given the outlook for commodities and its backlash on the local domestic market, the 
expectation is for real unemployment to increase in 2016. 
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YEAR IN REVIEW

TECU strives to be the leader in member-centric financial services among our competitors. We focus 
on strategies that are in the best long-term interest of our members, not short-term corporate earnings 
objectives. In so doing, we grow the lives of our members by deepening relationships with existing members 
and building relationships with new ones. Our medium term strategic objectives continue to be relevant in 
supporting TECU’s longer term sustainability and our ability to improve the quality of life for each member.  
These objectives are as follows:

Deliver a 
Differentiated 

Member 
Experience

Sustainable
 Growth

Building the
Brand

Creating an
Ownership

Culture

Member
Satisfaction

Expanding 
Member Access

Technology
and

Information
Management

The economic environment in 2015 presented opportunities that TECU took advantage of, and challenges 
which had to be mitigated. Overall, the credit union’s operating performance was strong with significant 
growth in Members’ shares. Total assets grew by $130 million to $1.9 billion at the end of 2015, driven 
largely by investments and loans. The credit union continued to record a surplus despite the challenge 
of a continued low interest rate environment and significant investment in initiatives to support our long-
term sustainability. Revenue from core operating activities (net of Interest Expense) stood at $85.8 million 
an increase of 4% ($3.1 million). TECU’s cost containment strategies were effective in maintaining our 
expenses. TECU’s Net Surplus recorded an extraordinary contribution of $33.7 million which represented 
the interest component of a total of $100.6 million received as the first tranche of an outstanding balance 
due from CLICO. The amount payable in the first tranche represented 85% of the matured balance of 
TECU’s policies (amounting to approximately $125.4 million). The remaining portion of $34 million plus 
interest (which continues to accrue), will be paid upon the sale of identified assets of the CL Financial Group.

The following table highlights TECU’s performance during the last financial year:

  2015 2014 Changes 2015 - 2014

  TT$M TT$M TT$M % Change

Assets 1,874.2 1,744.2 130 7

Liabilities 1,697.2 1,604.2 93 6

Members’ Shares 1,405.7 1,270.4 135.3 11

Loans to Members 632.3 592.5 39.8 7

Loans Granted 295 245 50 20

Income 128.3 87.4 40.9 47

Expenses 53.8 55 (1.2) (2)

Net Surplus 74.4 38.2 36.2 95

Membership 40,371 39,041 1,330 3



WE ARE PLEASED TO ANNOUNCE THE RE-OPENING 
OF OUR TECU CORAL REEF RESORT. THE NEWLY 
RENOVATED FACILITY LOCATED AT LOWLANDS 

TOBAGO, IS EQUIPPED WITH FORTY-TWO (42)
LUXURIOUS GUESTROOMS, A MEETING/ CONFER-

ENCE ROOM, POOL AREA AND DEDICATED STAFF.

AS YOU BASK IN THE SUN, SEA 
AND SAND OF TOBAGO, LET 
OUR RESORT BE YOUR HOME 
AWAY FROM HOME.

Coral Reef Resort
where the fun begins!

FOR RESERVATIONS CALL:
658-TECU (8328)
639-2536 / 730-4283 TECU CORAL REEF
OR E-MAIL TECUCORALREEF@TECUTT.COM.
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Assets increased by $130 million or 7% from $1.7 
billion in 2014 to $1.9 billion in 2015, due primarily 
to an increase in the Investment and Lending 
portfolios. The credit union did well in improving its 
Loans Granted total ($295 million against a budget 
of $270 million), growing it by 17%. The major areas 
of increased lending were in mortgages and new 
vehicles. 

Loans to Members grew by 7% or $38.9 million to 
$632 million with Mortgages accounting for 19% of 
this growth. Mortgages increased by $32.2 million 
and was generated throughout the branch network 
on the back of very successful Mortgage Expos. 
Growth in vehicle lending represented 8.4% of total 
loan growth, while personal lending (3%) accounted 
for the remainder of the increase in loan balances.

TECU’s Investment Portfolio grew by $236.7M 
(28.5%) over 2014. Short-term instruments within 
the investment portfolio improved short term yields 
and liquidity. With the increasing interest rates on the 
lending side, it is expected that investment rates will 
increase. These increases however will be at a slower 
rate than lending. Short term investments therefore 
will position the investment portfolio for the expected 
increases and aid in hedging against interest rate risk.

Members’ shares continued to increase and the 
11% growth ($135.3M) in 2015 outstripped the 
7% increase that was achieved in 2014 and 2013. 
Members continued to demonstrate confidence in 
the credit union’s ability to provide a safe haven for 
their funds and pay a reasonable rate of return, which 
were consistently above the market offerings for 
short term investments.  
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Loan Balances (2011-2015)

Growth in Investment (2011-2015)
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Revenue increased 47% year over year and was a 
combination of real growth in TECU’s core operating 
activities (8%) and the collection of the first tranche 
of the credit union’s CLICO investment. This is 
noteworthy, when one considers the fact that 
there has been declining to moderate consumer 
borrowing in the market for the last two (2) years 
and aggressive credit pricing within the sector. The 
environment was further heated when entrants 
in the non-traditional financing category ramped 
up their credit offerings, alongside the traditional 
commercial banking sector.
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The core business of the credit union is Interest 
Income from Loans and Investments. The main 
income driver for TECU in 2015 was interest 
derived from loans, which amounted to $55.5M 
or 58% of the Income mix. Investment Income 
accounted for $36M or 38% with Miscellanous 

Income making up the difference.  Management 
has to continue to exercise prudent judgement by 
advancing quality credit, while at the same time 
strategizing with the membership to reduce their 
overall debt burden.  

Salaries, Wages
& Assoc. benefits 43%

Administration
& Other 36.14%

Office
Building
2.48%

Officers’
Expenses

1.63%

LP/LS
Premiums

15.46% Education & 
Charity fund 1.21%

Finance Cost 0.07%

Expenses 2015

Cost Management continues to be a major 
focus for TECU and significant initiatives have 
been and continue to be identified as potential 
avenues for savings. Strategies such as the 
optimization of core/non-core spending, 

process reorganization, more efficient procurement 
practices and improved asset utilization are some 
of the initiatives that have resulted in a reduction of 
expenditure year over year. 
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The increase in membership at 3.4% is slightly 
lower than the 3.7% from the previous year. 
By enhancing members’ experience through 
the expansion of TECU’s delivery channels and 
utilising technology more strategically, it is 
expected that the rate of increase in membership 
should improve. Our focus for the upcoming year 
is growth in our millennial demographic (18 – 
45) and our product offerings and services must 
speak to that bracket.

Growth in Members (2011-2015)

DELINQUENCY

Following on the success of our 2014 drive to 
reduce our level of delinquency to within industry 
standards (5%) TECU’s Credit Management 
team continued to demonstrate diligence and 
persistence and was able to realize a reduction 
in delinquent loans of $523K. This decrease 
translated to a rate of 4.15% (a decline of 0.41%) 
from a total of $28.2 million December 2014 to 
$27.6 million in 2015. 

Additionally, more creative collection strategies 
and loan restructuring will be par for the course 
in the face of rising unemployment, reduced work 
hours/days and salary freezes. Every member 
must therefore play their part in seeking to honour 
their commitments and work with the staff to 
ensure mutually agreeable and comfortable loan 
conditions. 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

Information and Communications Technology 
- The major technological development expected 
in 2016 would be the completion of the upgrade of 
TECU’s core operating system. Oracle’s Flexcube 
system is largely regarded as one of the three (3) 
top financial systems in the world and TECU would 
be the first retail financial institution to embrace 
the latest version in the region. Go live for this 
phase of our strategic focus on automation to 
boost efficiency, improve the member experience 
and lower cost is expected by the third quarter of 
2016. The second phase will also see the expansion 
of our delivery channels with the implementation 
of Online and Mobile Banking Modules. This will not 
only significantly change the way TECU conducts 

business, but also elevate TECU’s standing in the 
financial service sector and lays a foundation for 
sustainability and increased profits. Our valued 
membership will also enjoy a new and improved 
level of service and accessibility to our products 
and services.  

Property Development - TECU Coral Reef was 
also substantively completed in December, 2015 
and commenced operations in early 2016 to 
rave reviews. Our goal is to receive certification 
from the Tobago House of Assembly as an 
approved guest facility so as to benefit from 
greater marketing opportunities, referrals and 
visibility. Our intent is also to engage social media 
and international ratings sites (Homeaway, 
TripAdvisor, etc.), to introduce TECU Coral Reef 
to the world. The facility received a major facelift 
and its décor rivals some of the best facilities on 
the island. Additionally, the facility now boasts 
free Wi-Fi for guests. We encourage members to 
utilize the facility and recommend to friends and 
family. 

As the Egypt Trace, Chaguanas Lands Project 
nears its completion, the development has 
been divided into two main phases. Phase 1 
comprises 55 Residential Lots and 7 cul-de-sacs 
while Phase 2 includes 29 Residential lots and 4 
additional cul-de-sacs. Land surveying works and 
site grading have been completed and the water 
supply installation and inspection was completed 
on February 29, 2016. The remaining works (road 
paving and electrification) is expected to be 
completed by mid-2016 and sale of lots will begin.   

Work also has been ongoing to improve the 
Beach Houses in Mayaro and Balandra to satisfy 
the needs of our members. 
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THE YEAR AHEAD - 2016 

The Caribbean is among those jurisdictions which 
suffered due to the oil decline, with average cuts to 
the import bills of many countries of 3% – 4% of 
GDP in 2015. The IMF believes that in many of these 
economies, savings will accrue at least partially 
to the private sector, boosting purchasing power. 
There have been many signs of improvement 
across the Caribbean region. 

Recovery in the tourism-dependent Caribbean will 
provide an opportunity to make headway toward 
strengthening competitiveness, reducing still-high 
external and fiscal deficits, and restoring stability 
to fragile financial systems. Economic growth in the 
Caribbean is expected to be 3.4% in 2016. In line 
with current trends of global commodity exporters, 
prospects for real GDP growth in Trinidad and 
Tobago remain tentative. CBTT forecasts a further 
1.5% deceleration in GDP in 2016 as the outlook for 
crude oil remains uncertain. Lower than budgeted 
oil prices are expected to weigh negatively on the 
country’s exports and investment flows.

TECU will continue its strategic focus on improving 
members’ experience when accessing the services 
and products while Interest Income from loans will 
help support investments in strategic initiatives. 
These investments are expected to benefit TECU 
in achieving its long-term success but may impact 
earnings in the short-term. These initiatives are 
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geared to growing the millennial market, youth 
development, community development and value 
added member programs. 

Other key initiatives in 2016 will include continued 
efforts to build Brand Awareness, continued 
implementation of our Process Transformation 
Program, execution on new product offerings, 
evaluation of Asset-Liability Management and an 
assessment of internal technology systems that 
support decision making.

The Board and management remain committed to 
employing long-term strategies to further strengthen 
TECU’s institutional capital. 

BOARD ATTENDANCE

Name Present Absent Excused
Ronald F. Jones 12 0 0
Kent Byer 11 0 1
Mitra Attai 12 0 0
Sandra Matthews-Noel 9 0 3
Kenneth Allum 10 0 2
Leonard Chan Chow 9 0 3
Gregory Cova 10 0 2
Natalie Danclar Rodney¹ 9 0 0
Leroy Fermin 12 0 0
Ian-Michael  Haynes 10 0 2
Carol Pilgrim-Bristol²  0 0 3
Gemma Warner 11 0 1
Brent Zephyrine 10 1 1
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In Addition there were five (5) Special Board Meetings held in 2015.

SPECIAL BOARD MEETINGS 

Name Present Absent Excused
Ronald F. Jones 5 0 0
Kent Byer 5 0 0
Mitra Attai 5 0 0
Sandra Matthews-Noel 4 0 1
Kenneth Allum 5 0 0
Leonard Chan Chow 3 0 2
Gregory Cova 5 0 0
Natalie Danclar Rodney¹ 3 0 0
Leroy Fermin 5 0 0
Ian-Michael  Haynes 4 0 1
Carol Pilgrim-Bristol²  2 0 0
Gemma Warner 5 0 0
Brent Zephyrine 3 2 0

1. Mrs. Natalie Danclar-Rodney was elected as a Director at the 2015 Annual General Meeting
2. Mrs. Carol Pilgrim-Bristol did not go up for election in 2015

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 

Your Board records its appreciation to you, our membership, for your loyal support during the year. Our 
success could not be possible without your commitment and confidence in this noble organization.

To our members of staff, we acknowledge your dedication and commitment to the continued success of 
TECU. 

We must recognize our team of volunteers who comprise the statutory committees: the Credit and Supervisory 
Committee. Special salutations also go out to all the appointed committees namely: the Education Committee 
and other Board appointed Committees. 

The Board of Directors also wishes to acknowledge the support received from our fellow co-operators, our 
Attorneys, Insurers and Affiliated Companies during 2015.
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The Regulators’ Actions

The first draft of the proposed Credit Union (CU) Bill was introduced by the Central Bank of Trinidad and 
Tobago (CBTT) in late 2011, subsequent to which Draft Regulations followed. In addition, a Co-operative 
Society (Amendment) Bill was also introduced by the Commissioner for Co-operative Development early 
in 2012. A number of updated versions of the Bills were presented during protracted consultations on the 
one hand by CBTT with the Co-operative Credit Union Movement (CCUM) and on the other hand by the 
Commissioner with the CCUM. During these discussions the CCUM objected and offered suggestions to 
several elements of the Bills and Draft Regulations. 

In general, the CCUM embraced the idea of enhanced regulation and supervision of the CCUM, and the 
need for modernisation of the relevant existing legislation governing co-operatives. 

However, the CCUM was very concerned and objected to the treatment of credit unions as if they were 
investor-owned banks. This ignores the fact that CU are jointly owned and democratically controlled. 

Some of the major objections to the proposed CU Bill were as follows:

• Absence of a national policy for co-operatives that should have been a forerunner to the proposed 
legislation;

• Multiple regulatory Government agencies;

• The costs of compliance and the criminalisation of non-compliance without cause to justify the heavy 
penalties and imprisonment;

• The introduction of non-withdrawable permanent shares;

• Barriers to the formation of new credit unions;

• Restrictions on the lines of business in which credit unions can participate.

Consultations with the CBTT were terminated prematurely by the Governor of the CBTT on 17th July, 
2013, with a suggestion to the CCUM to provide evidential data in support of the CCUM’s arguments 
against those elements of the CU Bill to which the CCUM still had considerable objections and concerns. 
Consultations with the Commissioner for Co-operative Development on the CS (Amendment) Bill were 
also not concluded.

CCUM COLLABORATION

TECU Board Actions

As early as April 2012, the CCUM supported the idea that several projects were essential to enhance the 
Movement’s arguments and should be undertaken with haste. These projects, if implemented, would 
form the basis for a meaningful response to the CBTT’s request for evidential data to assess, reinforce 
and communicate the CCUM’s position on the impact of the proposed legislation on Co-operative Credit 
Unions and the CCUM. TECU’s Board approved the engagement of consultants to undertake studies to 
gather the evidential data. The following consultants were contracted to conduct the studies:

• Mair and Company to conduct a Legal Review of the Credit Union Bill and its Draft Regulations, and 
the CS (Amendment) Bill, 2013

• Kairi Consultants Limited to conduct an Impact Assessment of the Proposed Credit Union Legislation 
on Credit Unions and the CCUM.

STATUS OF CREDIT UNION LEGISLATION
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CCUM Vigilance

Unbeknownst to the CCUM, revised Bills were tabled in the Senate on 18th November, 2014. The tabled 
Bills were different substantially from the last versions made available to the CCUM in August 2014.  As a 
consequence, and as early as 23rd November, 2014, the various stakeholders of the CCUM collaborated 
in mounting several initiatives aimed at delaying the debate in the Senate in order to accommodate the 
completion of the studies on the Bills. 

Parliament was prorogued on 17th June, 2015, resulting in the Bills lapsing before they were debated. Shortly 
thereafter, the final Report on the Legal Review from Mair and Company and the Impact Assessment from 
Kairi Consultants Limited were received by TECU.

Among the significant recommendations arising from the studies are:

• The need for a National Co-operative Policy;

• A single Regulator for the Co-operative Movement;

• An independent Co-operative Authority;

• Revision of the existing Co-operative Societies Act with separate provisions for credit unions exclusively;

Subsequent to the national election of 7th September, 2015, the Minister of Labour and Small Enterprise 
Development initiated three stakeholder consultations on a National Co-operative policy and Co-operative 
legislation with representatives of the Co-operative Movement. The Minister stated that the Bills, in their 
present form, will be withdrawn and there will be further consultations with the Co-operative Movement 
before any further development. Both consultants presented the issues and findings of the studies to the 
Minister, who thanked the presenters and commended the CCUM in general, and TECU in particular, for 
being proactive in undertaking these initiatives. 

Towards a Stronger CCUM and Sector

TECU Board acknowledges those credit unions that made significant financial contributions towards 
the projects. The joint actions of credit unions have shown the importance of appropriate co-operative 
legislation and the solidarity needed to achieve such goals. TECU will continue working towards legislation 
which would adhere to the co-operative philosophy and which will redound to people of modest means.

STATUS OF CREDIT UNION LEGISLATION (CONTINUED)
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
REPORT OF THE 

1. Anthony Solomon - Chairman
2. Kym Chan Chow - Secretary
3. Stephen Ramsden
not in picture: Hinford Joseph, 
Inge Maurice

In accordance with TECU’s Bye-Law No. 36, the 
Supervisory Committee met weekly to review the 
operations of the organisation and to ensure that 
the Board of Directors implement required policies.  
Forty (40) meetings were held by the Committee for 
this fiscal year.

The Committee’s findings are communicated on a 
monthly basis at Board of Directors meetings.

For the 2015 financial year the Committee performed 
the following exercises:

1) Procurement 

An item of procurement reviewed revealed that TECU 
was paying an exorbitant price  and our investigations 
and recommendations led to considerable cost 
savings. 

2) Delinquency

The Credit Management Department presented 
a Delinquency Report on Mortgages from 2013 to 
present which was reviewed by the Committee. It 
was noted that there was non-compliance in the 
procedure in dealing with delinquent members and 
inadequate action was taken by the Credit Manage-
ment Department to recover arrears with respect to 
delinquent members. 

The Supervisory Committee highlighted this in 
October 2015 and observed from November 2015 an 

improvement in the collections efforts being made by 
the Credit Management Department with respect to 
the number of delinquent members being contacted 
as shown in the table opposite.

3) Internal Audit Reports 

Internal Audit Reports were received and reviewed by 
the Committee. 

4) External Audit Report 

Management letters from KPMG for the years ended 
31st December, 2013 and 2014 were reviewed by the 
Committee.

5) Bank Reconciliation

Bank Reconciliation Statements for the period 
January 2015 to May 2015 were reviewed for the 
following banks:

• RBC Royal Bank (T&T)
• Republic Bank Limited 
• First Citizens Bank Limited 

 1 2 3 
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The General Manager and the Honorary Treasurer 
were informed of the discrepancies found and the 
Committee’s concerns. A response was received 
from the Accounts Department on the discrepancies. 

6) Availability of Cash 

The Committee received members concerns with 
respect to cash withdrawal limit that was reduced 
from $5,000.00 to $1,000.00 over the weeks 
preceding Christmas 2015. 

The Committee made recommendations to increase 
the limits  during  special seasons. 

7) TECU’s Procurement Policy 

A priority was placed on ensuring that a Procurement 
Policy for TECU be implemented. The policy is 
currently being reviewed.   The Committee would 
continue to monitor the process until its completion 
and implementation.  

8) Review of  Board of Directors’ Minutes 

Queries stemming out of the review of Board Minutes 
from January–July 2015 were conveyed to the 
General Manager and the Honorary Secretary. Timely 
feedback was received from the General Manager 
which was reviewed by the Committee.

9) Loan write-off, Credit Application 
Compliance and Record Keeping

The Committee reviewed a number of members’ 
information files and was not satisfied with the 
thoroughness and order in which they were 
maintained. The Committee is concerned that poor 
record keeping affects service to Members on a 
timely and fair manner. Following our  investigation 
the Committee reported its findings and made 
recommendations to improve the management 
records process. We observed an improvement in 
this area following the recommendations made by 
the Committee. 

10) Recovery of Investment held at CLICO 

The Committee investigated the money owed to 
TECU by CLICO. Detailed feedback was received on 
this issue  which confirmed that CLICO paid TECU 

eighty five percent (85%) of principal and interest 
outstanding and the remaining fifteen percent (15%) 
to be recovered following the sale of CLICO’s assets.

11)  Quarterly Statements to Members  

It was noted by the Committee that statements 
were being received up to four (4) months after the 
statement date. 

Feedback received indicated that a TTPost Industrial 
Action contributed to this issue. Monitoring of this 
challenge should be continued.  

12) Site Visits to TECU’s Vacation Resorts 

• Mayaro:  Sunday 8th November, 2015
• Balandra:  Sunday 31st January, 2016 
• Tobago:  Saturday 13th & Sunday 14th February, 

2016 

13) Timely receipt of information requested 
from Management 

During the course of the year receiving information 
proved to be a challenge at times in order to carry out 
investigative work by the Supervisory Committee. 

The Committee wishes to note that information 
requested from Management and its responses 
must be provided in a timely manner in order to 
enhance the smooth functioning of the Committee

14) Interviews 

The General Manager was interviewed on the 
following items to determine what development 
plans are in place for the following investments:

• Chaguanas Lands – Status Update 
• Moka Lands – Any Medium to Long term plans
• La Fortress Condos – Status Update

The Committee also reviewed the new organisation 
structure and the strategy for staffing the structure.

The members of the Supervisory Committee 
express our sincerest thanks and appreciation to 
the Members, Board of Directors, Management and 
Staff of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society 
Limited for the opportunity given to us to serve and 
their support  during the past year.  We are grateful 
for your confidence in our oversight role.

Action September October November December

1 Member visits to TECU 141 90 154 128

2 Calls made  141 140 550 487

3 Text messages sent 0 699 726 525

4 Letters sent 19 10 215 61

5 Demand Letters Sent 0 0 0 34

6 Loans Restructured 7 4 6 7
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CREDIT COMMITTEE
REPORT OF THE 

1. Lucy Ottley - Chairman
2. Inga Chrichlow - Secretary
3. Michelle Badal
4. Norman Arjoon
5. Wesley Huggins

The Credit Committee met on a weekly basis to 
facilitate the processing of loan applications by 
members. For the period under review the Committee 
held fifty-one (51) meetings. Periodic visits were also 
made to the office to engage in random checks on 
loans approved by Loan Officers.

In this competitive financial environment, the Credit 
Committee was ever mindful of the need for vigilance 
to ensure that loans were reasonably well secured by 
Shares and other Collateral, even when exercising 
some discretion to help members meet their financial 
needs.

For the year under review, TECU was able to meet 
and exceed its budgeted loan target. We applaud 
Management and the Board of Directors for the 
creative initiatives used to accomplish this, namely:

• Unsecured Character Loan Promotion

• New Vehicle Loan Promotion

• Windfall Loan

Loans totalling $295 million were disbursed during 
the period under review. This reflects an increase of 
20% over the previous year and shows the Credit 
Union’s ability to meet the financial needs of its 
members.

Some members used their Fixed Deposits as 
collateral to access loans; the Credit Committee 

takes this opportunity to encourage other members 
with Fixed Deposits to do likewise.

The past year proved to be challenging for many 
of our members who were faced with economic 
problems of varying complexities brought about 
by the economic slow-down in the country. This 
necessitated in the application of Share to Loan 
transfers by some members in an attempt to 
meet their financial commitments. Nineteen (19) 
interviews were arranged for members experiencing 
extraordinary financial problems.

Training sessions were arranged by TECU’s Credit 
Team headed by the Operations Manager, Ms. Karen 
Carraballo, for which the Committee is quite grateful.

It has been a pleasure to be of service to our Credit 
Union for the past year and we wish to express our 
thanks to now retired Credit Controller, Mr. Peter 
Williams, Branch Operations Officers, Loan Officers, 
other members of staff, the Board of Directors and 
you our members. 

 1 2 3 4 5 
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1. Ian-Michael Haynes - Chairman
2. Simon Gowrie
3. Joy Jarvis
4. Pamela Dass
5. Alisha Ramdeen
6. Kenneth Lewis
7. Jacqueline Newton
8. Nadine Pirtheesingh
9. Daniel Lewis
10. Brent Zephyrine
11. Keisha Francis
12. Jennie Alleyne
not in picture: Stacey Charles 

The Committee met on a monthly basis to discuss 
and plan scheduled activities.

There were three (3) newsletter publications for the 
year. Through this medium, members were kept 
informed of the activities of the Credit Union, its 
products and services. Articles included financial 
matters, health, etiquette and other member related 
issues.

Three (3) Induction Sessions were held in March, 
June and December. These sessions served to inform 
new members of the products, services and activities 
of the Credit Union.

In June, two members of the Education Committee 
(Ian-Michael Haynes and Kenneth Lewis) were part 
of the TECU delegation to the Caribbean Conference 
of Credit Unions in Cancun, Mexico. Reports were 
submitted on this successful convention, from 
which important information about the Credit Union 
movement was obtained.

The Health Fair was held in August. More than one 
hundred and fifty (150) members and their families 
benefited from the services offered. These services 
included blood pressure testing, eye testing, pap 
smear and prostate cancer tests. Special thanks 
once again to Mrs. Yvette Patsy Chang, who was 
instrumental in co-ordinating the service providers 
and the activities of the day.

There were eighty eight (88) applicants for the S.E.A. 
Bursaries and sixteen applicants (16) for the Tertiary 
Bursaries. After detailed evaluations of the application 
documents, the number of awardees for the S.E.A. 
and the Tertiary Bursaries were fifty (50) and sixteen 
(16) respectively. The awards ceremony was held on 
Friday, September 18, 2015 in the John C. Gomes 
Auditorium attended by Board Members, Awardees 
and their parents. The event was successful.

 1 2 3 4 5 
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The Annual Primary School Quiz was conducted 
during Credit Union Month of October. Eleven (11) 
pupils from five (5) primary schools participated 
in this event. San Fernando TML Primary School 
emerged winners. Participating students were 
awarded cash prizes, trophies and tokens. San 
Fernando TML was awarded the TECU Challenge 
Trophy. This competition is a means of educating 
pupils about the Credit Union Movement and its 
philosophy, both locally and internationally.

The Education Committee visited the TECU’s 
Balandra resort in October and made some 
recommendations to improve the facility. In general 
the resort was in good order.

A Financial Seminar was held in October for the 
benefit of members and their families. This session 
was conducted by Mrs. Susan Romano-Davis. It was 
attended by forty (40) persons and was considered 
to be very educational by all the participants.

Member Development Workshops and Seminars 
were held in October –November for the benefit 
of members and their families. These Workshops 

REPORT OF THE EDUCATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

covered the areas of ‘Make-up by Mario’, ‘Mentoring 
Men’, ‘Wills & Estate Preparation’ and ‘Etiquette & 
Fine Dining’. These seminars were very successful, 
averaging thirty (30) participants per event.

TECU’s Christmas Party for under-privileged children 
was held on Saturday November 28, 2015 at TECU’s 
car-park, Marabella. More than one hundred and 
twenty (120) children attended and received gifts 
from Santa Claus. We were blessed with good weather 
and a fun time was had by all.

The Education Committee wishes to express its 
sincere appreciation to the Board of Directors, other 
Committees and the Administrative Staff for their 
unstinting support throughout the past year. We 
look forward to continued support as we pursue our 
mandate of keeping members educated, empowered 
and informed.
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NOMINATING COMMITTEE
In keeping with Bye-Law No. 50 of TECU Credit Union 
Co-operative Society Limited (TECU) the Board of 
Directors appointed a Nominating Committee and 
its mandate entailed the screening and selection of 
nominees to be considered for election to the Board, 
Credit and Supervisory Committees at the Annual 
General Meeting. 

COMPOSITION OF COMMITTEE 

Ms. Joy Jarvis (Convenor)
Mr. Shaffayate Ali
Mr. Robert Andrews
Mrs. Cheryl Richards-Scott
Mrs. Gemma Warner

METHODOLOGY

The Nominating Committee held seven (7) meetings 
during the period January 26 – March 15, 2016 during 
which time the Committee examined the twenty 
four (24) applications received to ensure that they 
satisfied the stipulated criteria.

Procedure for evaluation was developed by the 
Committee together with a document detailing 
some of the main obligations and responsibilities 
of Officers. This list was given to applicants to read 
and sign before being interviewed.  Interviews were 
conducted over a two (2) day period.  

The interview results were collated and reviewed by 
the Committee to make the final recommendation of 
candidates to the Board of Directors. The Committee 
is pleased to recommend the twenty four (24) 
applicants listed below to stand for elections at the 
Annual General Meeting.  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Joyann Ali-Jahoor 
Kent Byer *
Gregory Cova *   
Kenneth Lennox Lewis 
Lester Maharaj    
Jason Matthews
Dionysia Mc Lean-Gittens   
Brent Zephyrine *

CREDIT COMMITTEE 

Norman Arjoon *    
Michelle Badal *
Inga Crichlow *    
Wesley Huggins *
Roger Louis Mike    
Lucy Ottley *
Stephen Tang

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

Shaun Biran    
Roger Bissesar 
Kym Chan Chow *   
Dianne Lochan 
Peter Machikan 
Stephen Ramsden*   
Anthony Solomon *
Tabitha Thomas   
Hercial Vitalis

*Denotes outgoing Officers

CONCLUSION

The Committee wishes to extend its gratitude for 
the opportunity to serve the Credit Union in the 
inaugural nominating process to ensure selection of 
competent individuals to guide the continued growth 
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TECU RESORT 
& BEACH HOUSES…
Where the FUN begins!

For reservations call 658-TECU (8328) 
or 639-2536 (TECU Coral Reef)

DESCRIPTION        RATES
 High (TT$) Low (TT$)
Rooms
Double occupancy 500 400

Apartments - One Bedroom with Kitchenette
Single/Double Occupancy 600 500
Triple Occupancy 700 600

Apartments - Two Bedrooms with Kitchen
Max. Occupancy: Six (6) to Eight (8) 1500 1200
Max. Occupancy: Five (5) 1200   1000

Apartment - One Bedroom with Kitchen
Max. Occupancy: Three (3) to Five (5) 1000 800

TECU Coral Reef  (Tobago)

TECU Mayaro &
Balandra Beach Houses

* Check-in time: 2:00 p.m.
Check-out time: 12:00 noon

DESCRIPTION MAXIMUM  OCCUPANCY  NIGHTLY RATE  (TT$)
Mayaro Beach Houses:  
   House #1 Twelve (12) 500
   House #2A & 2B Eight (8) 400
   House #3 Ten (10)  400
   House #4  Sixteen (16) 700
Balandra Beach House  Six (6) 500

* Check-in time: 2:00 p.m. / Check-out time: 5:00 p.m.

*Book at any time up to one (1) year in advance
Breakage deposit of $500.00 - applicable to beach houses only
One long weekend per member for the year
All rates are subject to change

HIGH SEASON:
All Long Weekends – Carnival 
included
Public Holidays
March 20- April 24
July 1-September 12
December 15- January 17

LOW SEASON:
January 18-March 19
April 25-June 30
September 13-December 15

658-TECU (8328)
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We have audited the accompanying financial statements of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (the 
Credit Union) which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2015 and the statements of 
comprehensive income, changes in members’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and the fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal controls as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our 
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those 
risk assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of TECU Credit 
Union Co-Operative Society Limited as at December 31, 2015 and of its financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of Matter 

Without qualifying our opinion we draw attention to the following note to the financial statements:

Note 2(o) - The Credit Union, in accordance with the Co-operative Societies Act 1971 and following industry 
norms, recognises interest income on members’ loans on the cash basis which is contrary to the accrual basis per 
International Accounting Standard No. 1 – Presentation of financial statements. 

Chartered Accountants
April 4, 2016
Port of Spain
Trinidad and Tobago

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Members of
TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31, 2015  |  expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars

  2015 2014
 Notes $ $
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 6 52,560,835 153,158,072
Investments 7 1,066,443,875 829,656,013
Loans to members 8 632,287,604 592,486,846
Property, plant and equipment 9 55,435,297 41,120,631
Investment properties 10 16,940,091 16,940,091
Accounts receivable and prepayments 11      50,534,497     110,886,322

Total Assets  1,874,202,199   1,744,247,975

MEMBERS’ EQUITY, RESERVES AND LIABILITIES
Members’ Equity and Reserves 
Capital reserve 12 8,905,919 8,905,919
Investment re-measurement reserve 13 3,879,556 7,136,444
Reserve fund 14 73,221,809 65,783,551
Education fund 15 675,000 675,000
Charity fund 16 235,000 235,000
Group life reserve 17 3,229,857 3,229,857
Retained earnings       86,848,400       54,042,859

      176,995,541    140,008,630
Liabilities
Members’ deposits 18 266,494,172 309,129,598
Accounts payable and accruals 19 14,096,061 12,603,663
Retirement benefit liability 20 243,000 132,000
Due to deceased and former members  10,631,071 11,904,775
Members’ shares 21 1,405,742,354 1,270,469,309

  1,697,206,658 1,604,239,345

Total Members’ Equity, Reserves and Liabilities  1,874,202,199   1,744,247,975

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

    
 
 President Honorary Treasurer Member of Supervisory Committee
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended December 31, 2015  |  expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars

  2015 2014
 Notes $ $
Revenue
Interest income 22 91,449,639 89,433,733
Interest expense     (5,673,694)  (6,822,833)

Net interest income  85,775,945 82,610,900

Repayment of impaired investment income  33,712,936 -      
Other income (expense) 23 832,676 162,611
Gain  (loss) on foreign currency translation        2,318,257   (2,149,375)

   122,639,814 80,624,136
Expenses
Administration and other 24 17,401,989 18,548,786
Salaries, wages and associated benefits 25 20,816,838 20,071,690
CUNA insurance premium  7,443,354 7,240,498
Office building (net) 26 1,195,872 1,182,142
Officers’ expenses 27 784,374 606,693
Education Fund expenses  361,599 366,265
Charity Fund expenses  218,693 197,262
Finance cost              33,918          29,455

Total expenses    48,256,637 48,242,791

Operating surplus for the year    74,383,177 32,381,345

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments                                       -         5,806,720

Net surplus for the year attributable to members  74,383,177 38,188,065

Other comprehensive income
Realised gain on available for sale investment  -      (5,556,050)
Unrealised loss on available-for-sale investments     (3,256,888)  (1,009,887)

     (3,256,888) (6,565,937)

Total comprehensive income for the year, 
   attributable to members     71,126,289 31,622,128

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS’ EQUITY AND 
RESERVES
Year ended December 31, 2015  |  expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars

  Investment    Group  Total
 Capital Re-measurement Reserve Education Charity  Life Retained  Members’
 Reserve Reserve Fund Fund Fund Reserve Earnings Equity 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance at January 1, 2014 8,905,919 13,702,381 61,964,745 450,000 235,000 3,229,857 51,155,175 139,643,077

Other comprehensive income         -       (6,565,937)   -       -       -       -       -       (6,565,937)

Surplus for the year                    -       - -       -       -       -       38,188,065 38,188,065

Total comprehensive income                    -       (6,565,937) -       -       -       -       38,188,065  31,622,128

Dividends paid (note 31) -        -       -       -       -      -       (31,256,575)  (31,256,575)

Transfer from net income -        -       3,818,806 591,265 197,262 -       (4,607,333) -      

Funds expenditure                    -        -       -       (366,265) (197,262) -       563,527 -    

Balance at December 31, 2014 8,905,919 7,136,444 65,783,551 675,000 235,000 3,229,857 54,042,859 140,008,630

Balance at January 1, 2015 8,905,919 7,136,444 65,783,551 675,000 235,000 3,229,857 54,042,859 140,008,630

Other comprehensive income -       (3,256,888) -       -       -       -       -       (3,256,888)

Surplus for the year                    -       -       -       -       -       -       74,383,177 74,383,177

Total comprehensive income                    -       3,879,556 -       -       -       -       74,383,177 71,126,289

Dividends paid (note 31) -        -       -       -       -      -       (34,139,378) (34,139,378)

Transfer from net income -        -       7,438,318 361,599 218,693 -       (8,018,610) -      

Funds expenditure                    -        -       (60) (361,599) (218,693) -       580,352 -    

Balance at December 31, 2015 8,905,919 3,879,556 73,221,809 675,000 235,000 3,229,857 86,848,400 176,995,541

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended December 31, 2015  |  expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars

  2015 2014
  $ $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Surplus for the year 74,383,177 38,188,065
Adjustments for:
  Amortisation of investments 3,798,308 (2,668,028)
  Interest income (91,449,639) (89,433,733)
  Interest expense 5,673,694 6,822,833  
  Depreciation 3,014,529 3,954,691
  Gain (loss) on foreign currency translation (2,318,257) 2,149,376
  Provision for losses 1,001,097 2,000,000
  Retirement benefit cost            997,000     1,000,000

Net cash outflows before changes in working capital    (4,900,033) (38,006,798)

Change in accounts receivable and prepayments 62,011,334 (686,459)
Change in loans to Members (40,801,855) (10,435,113)
Change in Members’ deposits (42,635,426) (11,640,397)
Change in accounts payable and accruals 1,492,398 3,527,906
Interest received 89,790,130 89,681,908
Interest paid (5,673,694) (6,822,833)
Retirement benefit contributions paid         (886,000)  (2,671,000)

Net cash from operating activities     58,396,854   22,853,216

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (17,329,195) (3,443,388)
Net purchases of investments (241,524,859)   (17,485,490)

Net cash used in investing activities (258,854,054)   (21,022,877)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Change in deceased and former Members’ balances (1,273,704) (1,668,876)
Change in Members’ shares 135,273,045 86,708,473
Dividends paid on Members    (34,139,378)  (31,256,575)

Net cash from financing activities     99,859,963    53,783,022

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents  (100,597,237) 55,707,360

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR     153,158,072     97,450,712

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (Note 6)     52,560,835   153,158,072

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2015  |  expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars

1. Incorporation and Principal Activities

TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (“the Credit Union”) was incorporated under the Co-
operative Societies Act of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago on January 2, 1947. Its registered office is 
situated at TECU House, Southern Main Road, Marabella. It operates for the benefit of employees, pensioners 
and contractors of the Petroleum Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited, its successors, subsidiaries and 
associated companies and institutions and those who are closely connected with the bonafide employees, 
pensioners and contractors as stated above and such persons and personnel of companies and institutions 
approved by the Board of Directors.

The Credit Union is also an insurance agent for Guardian General Limited and CUNA Caribbean Insurance 
Society Limited and operates resorts. In February 2014 the Credit Union entered into a business arrangement 
with Lazzari and Sampson Travel Service to operate the Credit Union  travel agency.

On March 29, 2016 the Board of Directors of the Credit Union authorised these financial statements for issue.

2. Basis of Presentation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

These financial statements were prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the measurement 
at fair value of available-for-sale investments and certain other financial instruments.

The Credit Union’s functional and presentation currency is the Trinidad and Tobago dollar. 

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to make certain critical 
accounting estimates and to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Credit Union’s accounting 
policies. It also requires the use of assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of income and expenditure during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on management’s 
best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, deposits with banks, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less. They are carried at cost, which approximates 
fair value.

b) Investments

The Credit Union has classified all investments into the following categories:

Held-to-maturity

These securities are held with the positive intention of holding them to maturity and are stated at 
amortised cost less provisions made for any permanent diminution in value. Amortised cost is calculated 
by taking into account any premium or discounts on acquisition over the period of maturity using the 
effective interest rate method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
December 31, 2015  |  expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars

Available-for-sale

These securities are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time but may be sold in response to the 
needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices. After initial recognition, 
available-for-sale investments are measured at fair value with unrealised gains or losses recognised in the 
investment re-measurement reserve account.

For actively traded investments, fair value is determined by reference to stock exchange quoted market 
prices at the statement of financial position date, adjusted for transaction costs necessary to realise 
the investment. For investments where there is no quoted market price, the carrying value is deemed to 
approximate fair value less impairment losses. All “regular way” purchases and sales are recognised at 
settlement date.

c) Trade receivables 

Trade receivables are measured at cost. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when there is objective evidence that the asset is 
impaired.

d) Loans to members 

Loans to members are stated at principal amounts outstanding net of allowances for loan losses. Specific 
provisions are made for potential losses on non-performing loans on the basis of net realisable value. 
Periodic portfolio reviews are conducted during the course of each year to determine the adequacy of 
provisions. 

Loans are secured by various forms of collateral, including charges over tangible assets, certificates of 
deposit, and assignment of funds held with other financial institutions.

e) Trade payables 

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at cost. 

f) Members’ deposits

Members’ deposits are stated at the principal amounts invested by members together with any capitalised 
interest. Members’ deposits bear interest at rates that are not significantly different from current market 
rates and are assumed to have discounted cash flow values which approximate carrying values.

g)  Members’ shares

Members’ shares are classified as liabilities and consist of an unlimited number of shares at cost value of 
$5 each. 

h) Financial instruments

Financial assets

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade 
date, that is, the date on which the Credit Union commits itself to purchase or sell an asset. A regular 
way purchase and sale of financial assets is a purchase or sale of an asset under a contract whose terms 
require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established generally by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace concerned.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at the fair value of the consideration 
given plus transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows expire or where 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets have been transferred.

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

b) Investments (continued)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
December 31, 2015  |  expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

h) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets comprise the following cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, investments and 
loans to members.

Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability 
or equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the 
Credit Union’s statement of financial position when the Credit Union becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Financial liabilities

When financial liabilities are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value of the consideration given 
plus transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the liability. Financial liabilities are re-
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished that is when the obligation specified in 
the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability extinguished and the consideration paid 
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities comprise trade payables, members’ deposits and members’ shares.

i)  Impairment of financial assets

The Credit Union assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 

A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if and only if, 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 

Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired includes observable data 
that comes to the attention of the Credit Union about the following loss events:

i) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor.

ii) A breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments.

iii) It is probable that the borrower will enter in bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation

iv) The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

v) Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated cash-flows from a 
group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet 
be identified with individual financial assets in the group, including adverse changes in the payment 
status of borrowers in the Credit Union or national or economic conditions that correlate with defaults 
on assets in the Credit Union. 

The Credit Union first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial 
assets that are individually significant. If the Credit Union determines that no objective evidence of 
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, it includes the asset in a group of financial 
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that 
are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised 
are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
December 31, 2015  |  expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

i)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Impairment losses are recorded in an allowance account and are measured and recognised as follows: 

i) Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

 The difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as improvement 
in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying 
amount of the financial asset does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised at the date that the impairment is reversed. The amount of the 
reversal is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

ii) Financial assets measured at cost

 The difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the current 
market’s rate of return for similar financial assets is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income. These losses are not reversed.

j) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is 
provided on the declining balance method, except for building and computers, which are depreciated on 
the straight-line basis.

The following rates, considered appropriate to write-off the assets over their estimated useful lives, are 
applied:

 Buildings - 2 ½% - 5%
 Computer equipment and Software - 20%
 Office furniture and equipment - 10% - 33 1/3%
 Beach house furniture - 20% - 33 1/3%
 Motor vehicles - 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date, and adjusted as appropriate. 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and 
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

The Credit Union’s leasehold lands have been acquired under long-term leases ranging in terms from 
199 years to 999 years. In view of the long-term nature of these leases, no amortisation is considered 
necessary.

k) Investment properties 

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including 
property under construction for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at cost, 
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured in 
accordance with the cost model as set out in International Accounting Standard (IAS) 16 Property, Plant 
and Equipment, i.e. cost less accumulated depreciation and less accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
December 31, 2015  |  expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

k) Investment properties  (continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is 
derecognised.

l) Pension plan

All permanent employees of the Credit Union are members of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society 
Limited’s Pension Fund Plan (the Plan), which is a defined benefit plan. Provision is made for pension 
benefits based on the Plan’s members’ salaries. Pension benefits are based upon contributions made 
by members and the Credit Union during employment and determined by actuarial valuations of the 
Pension Fund Plan. IAS 19 Employee Benefits, requires the use of actuarial techniques on an annual basis 
to measure the present value of the defined benefit obligation, the related current service cost and the 
actuarial gains and losses.

Under the terms of a trust deed dated 26 October 1981, the Trustees have entered into a Group Deposit 
Administration contract with Colonial Life Insurance Company (Trinidad) Limited for the purpose of 
administering the Pension Fund Plan.

m) Due to deceased and former members 

Any amounts standing to the credit of the deceased and former members’ accounts are transferred 
to a special account. The Credit Union is, however, still liable for payments of these amounts and upon 
notification by the beneficiaries or the former members, the amounts are paid.

n) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Credit Union has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of past events. It is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation 
and the amount has been reliably estimated.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the statement of financial position date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

o) Revenue recognition

Loan Interest

Interest on members’ loans is accounted for on a cash basis in accordance with the Co-operative Society 
Act 1971 and with the norms in the credit union industry.

Investment Income

Income from investments is accounted for on the accruals basis except for dividends, which are accounted 
for on a cash basis. 

Other Income and Expenses

Other income and expenses are accounted for on the accrual basis.

p) Dividends payable to members 

The dividend is computed on the basis of the average value of shares in issue throughout the year. The 
average being determined on the basis of the value of shares held at the end of each day.



59 ANNUAL REPORT 2015

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
December 31, 2015  |  expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

q) Foreign currency 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are expressed in Trinidad and Tobago 
dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All revenue and expenditure transactions 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the average rate and the resulting profits and losses 
on exchange from these trading activities are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income.

r) Comparative figures 

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the 
current year.

4. Financial Risk Management

Financial risk factors 

The Credit Union is exposed to interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, currency risk, operational risk, 
compliance risk and reputation risk arising from the financial instruments that it holds. The risk management 
policies employed by the Credit Union to manage these risks are discussed below:  

a) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Credit Union is exposed to interest rate risk through 
the effect of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of interest rates on interest bearing financial assets and 
liabilities, including investments in bonds, loans, customer deposits and other funding instruments. 

The exposure is managed through the matching of funding products with financial services and monitoring 
market conditions and yields.

i) Bonds

The Credit Union invests mainly in medium to long term bonds consisting of both floating rate and 
fixed rate instruments. The market values of the fixed rate bonds are not very sensitive to changes 
in interest rates. The market values of the floating rate bonds are sensitive to changes in interest 
rates. The longer the maturity of the bonds, the greater is the sensitivity to changes in interest rates. 
As these assets are being held to maturity and are not traded, any changes in market value will not 
impact the statement of comprehensive income. 

The Credit Union actively monitors bonds with maturities greater than ten years, as well as the 
interest rate policies of the Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago.

ii) Loans 

The Credit Union generally invests in fixed rate loans and variable rate mortgages. These are funded 
mainly from member deposits and shares.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
December 31, 2015  |  expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars

4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

a) Interest rate risk (continued)

ii) Loans (continued)

The table below summarises the Credit Union’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table 
are the Credit Union’s financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts:

 Due on  Due in Due 2-5  Due over Non-interest Carrying
 Demand 1 year years 5 years    bearing Amount 
 $ $ $ $ $ $
As at December 31, 2015

Assets

Cash and cash

   equivalents 50,571,751 -       -       -       1,989,084 52,560,835

Investments -       412,417,951 112,766,748 541,259,176 -       1,066,443,875

Loans to Members -       24,219,688 385,290,522 222,777,394 -       632,287,604

Accounts receivable                             -       -       -       -       50,534,497 50,534,497

         50,571,751 436,637,639 498,057,270 764,036,570 52,523,581 1,801,826,811

Liabilities

Members’ deposits -       53,832,085 209,139,218 -       3,522,869 266,494,172

Accounts payable and 

   accruals -       -       -       -       14,096,061 14,096,061

Due to deceased and 

   former members  10,631,071 -       -       -       -       10,631,071 

Members’ shares  1,405,742,354  -       -       -       -       1,405,742,354

   1,416,373,425 53,832,085 209,139,218 -       17,618,930 1,696,963,658

Interest Sensitivity Gap (1,365,801,674) 382,805,554 288,918,052 764,036,570 34,904,651 104,863,153

As at December 31, 2014

Assets

Cash and cash

   equivalents 151,464,812 -       -       -       1,693,260 153,158,072

Investments -       136,149,951 113,824,560 579,681,502 -       829,656,013

Loans to Members -       125,000,975 77,898,309 389,587,562 -       592,486,846

Accounts receivable                             -       -       -       -       110,886,322 110,886,322

       151,464,812 261,150,926 191,722,869 969,269,064 112,579,582 1,686,187,253

Liabilities

Members’ deposits -       174,549,712 131,625,123 -       2,954,763 309,129,598

Accounts payable and 

   accruals -       -       -       -       12,603,663 12,603,663

Due to deceased and 

   former members  11,904,775 -       -       -       -       11,904,775 

Members’ shares 1,270,469,309  -       -       -       -       1,270,469,309

 1,282,374,084 174,549,712 131,625,123 -       15,558,426 1,604,107,345

Interest Sensitivity Gap (1,130,909,272) 86,601,214 60,097,746 969,269,064 97,021,156 82,079,908
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

b) Credit risk 

Credit risk arises when a failure by counter parties to discharge their obligations could reduce the amount 
of future cash inflows from financial assets on hand. The Credit Union relies heavily on a written Loan 
Policy Manual, which sets out in detail the current policies governing the lending function and provides a 
comprehensive framework for prudent risk management of the credit function. 

Adherence to these guidelines is expected to communicate the Credit Union’s lending philosophy; provide 
policy guidelines to team members involve in lending; establish minimum standards for credit analysis, 
documentation, decision making and post-disbursement administration; as well as create the foundation 
for a sound credit portfolio.

The Credit Union’s loan portfolio is managed and consistently monitored by the Credit Committee and 
is adequately secured by collateral and where necessary, provisions have been established for potential 
credit losses on delinquent accounts.

Cash balances are held with high credit quality financial institutions and the Credit Union has policies to 
limit the amount of exposure to any single financial institution. 

The Credit Union also actively monitors global economic developments and government policies that 
may affect the growth rate of the local economy.

c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that arises when the maturity dates of assets and liabilities do not match. An 
unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses. The Credit 
Union has procedures with the object of minimising such losses such as maintaining sufficient cash 
and other highly liquid current assets and by having available an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities. 

The Credit Union is able to make daily calls on its available cash resources to settle financial and other 
liabilities.

Following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

 Due on  Up to One to  Over
   demand one year five years five years Total 
 $ $ $ $ $
As at December 31, 2015
Liabilities
Members’ deposits -       57,354,954 209,139,218    -       266,494,172
Accounts payable and accruals -       14,096,061 -       -       14,096,061
Due to deceased
   and former members 10,631,071 -       -       -       10,631,071
Members’ shares 1,405,742,354 -       -       -       1,405,742,354

Total Liabilities   1,416,373,425 71,451,015 209,139,218 -       1,696,963,658
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4. Financial Risk Management (continued)

c) Liquidity risk (continued)

 Due on  Up to One to  Over
   demand one year five years five years Total 
 $ $ $ $ $
As at December 31, 2014
Liabilities
Members’ deposits -       177,504,476  131,625,122         -       309,129,598
Accounts payable and accruals -       12,603,663  -       -       12,603,663
Due to deceased
   and former members 11,904,775  -       -       -      11,904,775 
Members’ shares  1,270,469,309 -       -       -       1,270,469,309

Total Liabilities   1,282,374,084 190,108,139 131,625,122 - 1,604,107,345

Risk management

The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities 
are fundamental to the management of the Credit Union. The Credit Union employs various asset/
liability techniques to manage liquidity gaps. Liquidity gaps are mitigated by the marketable nature of 
a substantial segment of the Credit Union’s assets as well as generating sufficient cash from new and 
renewed members’ deposits and shares.

To manage and reduce liquidity risk the Credit Union’s management actively seeks to match cash inflows 
with liability requirements.

d) Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. Currency risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and 
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the Credit Union’s measurement currency. The Credit 
Union is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures primarily with respect 
to the United States Dollar. The Credit Union’s management monitors the exchange rate fluctuations on a 
continuous basis and acts accordingly. 

The carrying amounts of the Credit Union’s United States dollar denominated monetary assets at the end 
of the reporting period are as follows:

 2015  2014
 $ $

Cash and cash equivalents 29,280,156 44,825,954
Investments 284,769,255 206,855,940

   314,049,411   251,681,894

e) Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk derived from deficiencies relating to the Credit Union’s information technology 
and control systems, as well as the risk of human error and natural disasters. The Credit Union’s systems 
are evaluated, maintained and upgraded continuously. Supervisory controls are installed to minimise 
human error. Additionally, staff is often rotated and trained on an on-going basis. 
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5. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions in the process of applying the Credit Union’s accounting policies (see basis of 
preparation).

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The 
Credit Union makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. However, actual results could differ 
from those estimates as the resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual 
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Changes in accounting estimates are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in 
which the estimate is changed, if the change affects that period only, or in the period of the change and future 
periods if the change affects both current and future periods.

The critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements, are as follows: 

i) Classification of investments as held to maturity investments, available for sale or loans and receivables,

ii) Classification of leases as operating leases or finance leases, and/or

iii) Depreciation method adopted for property, plant and equipment. 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the statement 
of financial position date (requiring management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgements) that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are as follows:

i) Impairment of assets

Management assesses at each reporting date whether assets are impaired. An asset is impaired when 
the carrying value is greater than its recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of impairment. 
Recoverable amount is the present value of the future cash flows. Provisions are made for the excess of 
the carrying value over its recoverable amount.

f) Compliance risk 

Compliance risk is the risk of financial loss, including fines and other penalties, which arise from non-
compliance with laws and regulations of the state. The risk is limited to a significant extent due to the 
supervision applied by the Commissioner for Co-operative Development, as well as by the monitoring 
controls applied by the Credit Union. The Credit Union has a Compliance Officer as well as an Internal 
Audit Department which does routine reviews on compliance.

g) Reputation risk 

The risk of loss of reputation arising from the negative publicity relating to the Credit Union’s operations 
(whether true or false) may result in a reduction of its clientele, reduction in revenue and legal cases 
against the Credit Union. The Credit Union engages in public social endeavours to engender trust and 
minimise this risk. 

4. Financial Risk Management (continued)
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ii) Plant and equipment

Management exercises judgement in determining whether future economic benefits can be derived from 
expenditures to be capitalised, in estimating the useful lives, and in estimating residual values of those 
assets.

6. Cash and Cash Equivalents

 2015  2014
 $ $

Cash on hand 1,989,084 1,693,260
Current accounts held at bank 36,040,361 25,725,115
Mutual funds   14,531,390 125,739,697

 52,560,835 153,158,072

7. Investments
 2015  2014
 $ $

Available-for-Sale
Quoted
Ansa McAl Limited – 109,918 shares  7,323,837 7,298,555
Plipdeco Limited – 77,700 shares) 304,584 291,375
Sagicor Financial Corporation – 175,900 shares  1,090,580 1,046,605
National Enterprises Limited – 276,100 shares 4,519,757 4,809,662
Unilever Caribbean Limited – 32,667 shares 2,231,156 2,107,022
Neal and Massy Holdings Limited – 38,678 shares 2,376,763 2,639,774
Guardian Holdings Limited – 76,959 shares 1,019,707 1,019,707
Republic Bank Limited – 15,677 shares 1,754,727 1,877,164  
Praetorian Property Mutual Fund – 400,000 units 1,236,000 1,400,000
Grace Kennedy Limited – 47,811 shares 193,635 174,510
Jamaican Money Market Brokers Limited – 202,906 shares 111,598 87,250
SavInvest India Asia Mutual Fund – 110,031 units 6,351,120 6,960,780
National Commercial Bank of Jamaica Limited  – 100,000 shares 210,000 115,000
Scotiabank Trinidad and Tobago Limited – 50,000 shares 3,097,000 3,076,000
Royal Bank of Canada – 6,388 shares 2,197,230 2,805,492
Scotiabank Bond Fund – 372,939 units 6,253,910 6,497,443
First Citizens Bank Limited – 186,577 shares 6,530,195 3,739,873
First Citizens Bank Limited (El Tucuche Fund) – 740,934 units 9,505,544 10,135,973
Trinidad and Tobago National Gas Ltd – 152,567 shares 3,269,511 -      
UTC Calypso Macro Index fund – 995,775 shares 24,894,376 -      
CLICO Investments Fund – 320,000 units    7,280,000    5,523,791

   91,751,230 61,605,976

5. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments (continued)
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Unquoted
Central Finance Facility Co-operative Society of T&T Ltd – 2 shares 50,000 50,000
LINCU Limited – 2,250,001 shares      2,250,001      2,250,001

      2,300,001      2,300,001

Total available-for-sale     94,051,231   63,905,978

Held for Trading
RBC Portfolio Management 9,379,965 9,515,131
FCIS Portofolio Management   12,984,606    10,108,048

    22,364,571    19,623,180
Short-term held-to-maturity
Fixed deposits 29,670,261 28,162,500
Repurchase agreements  241,428,789     76,987,451

Total 271,099,050   105,149,951

Long-term held-to-maturity
Petrotrin (USD) 6% Fixed Rate Bond 2022 – III 2,894,173 3,293,153
Government of Trinidad and Tobago (GOTT) (USD) 9.75%   
   Fixed Rate Notes 2020 13,728,066 13,519,343
GOTT 8.25% Fixed Rate Bond 2017 3,872,000 3,872,000
Republic Bank Limited 8.55% Fixed Rate Bonds 2018 5,000,000 5,000,000
Housing Development Corporation (HDC) 8.70% 
   Fixed Rate Bonds 2023 4,372,000 4,372,000
HDC 8.25% Fixed Rate Bonds 2024 1,138,000 1,138,000
GOTT 7.75% Fixed Rate Bonds 2024 20,393,000 20,393,000
National Insurance Property Development Company Limited
   (NIPDEC) 6.8% Fixed Rate Bond 2022 20,000,000 20,000,000
Trinidad & Tobago Mortgage Finance Co. Ltd (TTMF)
   7% Fixed Rate Bond 2024 -       10,000,000
Educational Facilities Co. Ltd 5.35% Fixed Rate Bond 2016 10,007,871 10,016,936
GOTT (USD) 9.75% Fixed Rate Notes 2020 6,981,300 6,921,834
Petrotrin (USD) 6% Fixed Rate Bond 2022 –II 3,010,349 3,399,771
Petrotrin (USD) 6% Fixed Rate Bond 2022 – I 3,426,041 3,927,645
Petrotrin (USD) 9.75% Fixed Rate Note 2019 27,204,418 27,265,763
Petrotrin (USD) 9.75% Fixed Rate Note 2019 – II 14,934,847 15,671,185
GOTT 6.50% Fixed Rate Bond 2025 28,019,485 28,095,094
NIPDEC 6.25% Fixed Rate Bond 2028 5,000,000 5,000,000
GOTT 5.95% Fixed Rate Bond 2023     5,058,828       5,065,145

Balance carried forward 175,040,378 186,950,422
 

7. Investments (continued)
 2015  2014
 $ $
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Balance brought forward  175,040,378 186,950,422

Caroni (1975) Limited 6% Fixed Rate Bond 2018 2,272,857 3,041,693
Neal and Massy Limited (NML) 5% Certificate 2016 5,938,099 5,682,080
Sagicor 7.5% Fixed Rate Bond 2016 -       3,131,602
FCB 4.903% Fixed Rate Bonds 2016 3,813,156 3,797,143
FCB 4.903% Fixed Rate Bonds 2016 II 1,927,253 1,902,297
GOTT 6.20% Fixed Rate Bond 2018 2,084,013 2,110,962
GOTT 6.00% Fixed Rate Bond 2031 10,634,377 10,659,073
GOTT Zero Coupon (Clico) 2021  14,064,481 13,575,873
GOTT Zero Coupon (Clico) 2017 7,841,240 10,843,492
NIPDEC 5.15% Fixed Rate Bond 2025  12,472,112 12,559,205
GOTT 5.2% Fixed Rate Bond 2027 22,231,076   22,377,259
ETECK Fixed Rate Loan #17 2021  21,968,340 21,322,275
ETECK Fixed Rate Loan #20 2022  19,858,021 19,238,540
Gulf City Bond 2020  6,144,013 6,448,639
Republic Bank Limited 4.75% Fixed Rate Bond 2027  7,100,000 7,100,000
RBTT 5 year Certificate of Deposit -       31,000,000
Cayman Island 5.95% Fixed Rate Bond 2019 7,113,835 7,226,676
GOTT 2.4% Fixed Rate USD Bond 2020 III 8,418,030 8,969,915
FCB 4.903% Fixed Rate Bond 2016 III 3,216,719 3,262,742
Caribbean Dev. Bank Limited 4.75% Fixed Rate Bond 2027 13,022,636 12,653,396
GOTT 4.375% USD Bond 2024 3,269,719 3,277,043
NML Zero Coupon Series 25 2027 3,346,858 3,242,800
NML Zero Coupon Series 37 2020 5,077,104 4,861,462
NML Zero Coupon Series 39 2020 4,924,804 4,713,607
NML Zero Coupon Series 40 2020 1,088,883 1,040,851
SBTT 4.15% Fixed Rate Bond 2017 -       11,000,000
Prestige Holdings Limited 6.25% Fixed Rate Bond 2023 1,890,307 2,144,272
TTMF Zero Coupon Series 5, 8, 10 & 20   12,500,000   12,500,000

Balance carried forward   377,258,311 436,633,754

7. Investments (continued)
Long-term held-to-maturity (continued) 2015  2014

 $ $
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Balance brought forward  377,258,311 436,633,754

Royal Bank of Canada Limited 4.75% Fixed Rate Bond 2022 3,210,404 3,224,030
GOTT 2.60% Fixed Rate Bond 2020 13,285,755 13,362,387
Urban Development Company of Trinidad and Tobago 
   Limited (UDECOTT) 1.95% Fixed Rate Bond 2022 7,832,194 8,962,805
GOTT 2028 Zero Coupon Series 20, 26 & 30 44,265,277 42,387,187
GOTT 2.50% Fixed Rate Bond 2023 5,069,309 5,078,038
NIPDEC 4.00% Fixed Rate Bond 2023 10,171,531 10,178,207
Sport Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited
   Loan series 28, 29 & 30 47,546,093 45,724,893
UDECOTT 1.95% Fixed Rate Loan 2021 9,750,000 11,375,000
TTMF Notes Series 6,9 & 11 25,000,000 25,000,000
GOTT 2.2% FXR Bond Due 2021 1,970,146 1,975,350
ANSA Merchant 3.35% due 2022 20,000,000 20,000,000
GOTT 4.375% USD Bond 2024 3,482,552 3,482,313
GOTT 4.375% USD Bond 2024 3,483,143 3,478,554
GOTT 2.20% FXR Bond due 2026   9,263,463 10,114,386
INV: GOTT 2.30% FXR Bond 2026 II 11,518,600 -      
INV: First CARIBB 3.45% FXRB 2018 10,000,000 -      
INV: FCIS 4.25% Fixed Bond 2022 15,000,000 -      
INV: TTMF 4.62% FXRB 2021 – Series 1 13,000,000 -      
INV: TTMF VAR BOND 2025 – Series 2 13,000,000 -      
INV: GOTT 4.375% USD Bond 2024 IV 6,924,795 -      
INV: Phoenix Park GPL US Bond 2021 5,883,963 -      
INV: ANSA Merchant 4.0% USD 2021 12,838,000 -      
INV: GOTT 3.1% USD FXR Bond 2028           9,175,487                          -     

Total long-term held-to-maturity    678,929,023 640,976,904

Total investments 1,066,443,875 829,656,013

7. Investments (continued)
Long-term held-to-maturity (continued) 2015  2014

 $ $
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Character loans 333,888,733 323,988,370
Co-maker loans 15,033,975 17,254,004
Mortgage bill of sale loans 115,977,929 106,907,563
Computer loans 1,187,781 1,638,633
Mortgages 176,504,402 146,057,821
Investments     23,267,031    21,573,250

 665,859,851 617,419,641
Less: Loans due from deceased members     (3,489,144)     (1,798,282)

 662,370,707 615,621,359
Less:  Provision for loan losses (See Note 8 (a) below)  (30,083,103)   (23,134,513)

 632,287,604 592,486,846
 
a)   Provision for Loan Losses

Opening balance at January 1 23,134,513 21,962,255
Provision for loan losses charged to surplus 1,001,097 2,000,000
Provision for loan losses transferred (see note 11 (a) below) 5,958,250 -
Loans written off            (10,757)       (827,742)

Closing balance at December 31   30,083,103  23,134,513

8. Loans to Members

 2015  2014
 $ $
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9. Property, Plant and Equipment

   Office Beach  Capital
 Land and Computer Furniture & House Motor Work-in-
 Building Equipment Equipment Furniture Vehicles Progress Total
 $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Cost
Opening Balance as at 
   January 1, 2015 33,334,419 19,038,989 11,039,402 1,117,285 665,209 8,716,006 73,911,310
Additions -       468,219 2,336,645 48,740 -       14,475,591 17,329,195
Transfers          47,768 71,375 137,428 -       -       (256,571) -

Closing Balance as at 
   December 31, 2015 33,382,187 19,578,583 13,513,475 1,166,025 665,209 22,935,026 91,240,505
Accumulated Depreciation
Opening Balance as at 
   January 1, 2015 11,467,205 14,521,762 5,986,181 637,025 178,506 -       32,790,687
Charge for the year        443,090 1,942,580 494,490 48,176 86,193 -       3,014,529

Closing Balance as at 
   December 31, 2015   11,910,295 16,464,342 6,480,671 685,201 264,699 -       35,805,208

Net Book Value 
Balance as at 
   December 31, 2015   21,471,892 3,114,241 7,032,804 480,824 400,510 22,935,026 55,435,297

Balance as at 
   December 31, 2014    21,867,214 4,517,227 5,053,221 480,260 486,703 8,716,006 41,120,631

Cost
Opening Balance as at 
   January 1, 2014 36,562,228 18,016,042 10,489,389 984,184 369,259 8,133,622 74,554,724
Additions      4,818 658,108 141,005 133,101 295,950 2,210,405 3,443,887
Transfers to investment 
  properties  (3,232,627)  364,839 409,008 -        -       (1,628,021) (4,086,801)

Closing Balance as at 
   December 31, 2014 33,334,419 19,038,989 11,039,402 1,117,285 665,209 8,716,006 73,911,310

Accumulated Depreciation
Opening Balance as at 
   January 1, 2014 11,012,078 11,600,504 5,498,069 569,643 155,695 -       28,835,989
Charge for the year        455,127 2,921,258 488,112 67,382 22,811 -       3,954,690

Closing Balance as at 
   December 31, 2014   11,467,205 14,521,762 5,986,181 637,025 178,506 -       32,790,679

Net Book Value 
Balance as at 
   December 31, 2014   21,867,214 4,517,227 5,053,221 480,260 486,703 8,716,006 41,120,631

Balance as at 
   December 31, 2013 25,550,150 6,415,538 4,991,320 414,541 213,564 8,133,622 45,718,735
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La Brea/Plaisance Park/Piparo 430,870 430,870
Tabaquite 93,783 93,783
La Sophie 69,429 69,429
Chaguanas 12,259,208 12,259,208
Blanchisseuse 28,847 28,847
Tobago – Mc Kay Hill 311,609 311,609
Tobago – Milford Road 992,213 992,213
The Orchard at Moka   2,754,132 2,754,132

 16,940,091 16,940,091

Opening balance at January 1 16,940,091 12,853,290
Transfers from property, plant and equipment                      -         4,086,801

Closing balance at December 31 16,940,091 16,940,091

The Credit Union has adopted the Cost Model for accounting for its investment properties (significant 
accounting policy (k)). An independent valuation was not performed to determine the market value of 
investment properties as at December 31, 2015. 

Interest receivable on investments 10,364,326 8,704,817
Accounts receivable (See Note 11(b) below) 42,621,047 133,546,959
Deferred charges and prepayments 349,675 330,345
Other receivables        393,610        239,680

 53,728,658 142,821,801
Provision for impairment (See Note 11(a) below)    (3,194,161) (31,935,479)

 50,534,497 110,886,322
a)   Provision for Impairment:

Opening balance at January 1 31,935,479 31,935,479
Decrease in provision due to repayment (22,783,068)              -      
Decrease in provision due to transfer (see Note 8 (a) above)   (5,958,250)                         -

Closing balance at December 31       3,194,161   31,935,479

b) Included in accounts receivable is an amount of $35,782,910 (2014: $127,299,184) representing 
investments (gross) in Colonial Life Insurance Company (Trinidad) Limited. There is no longer a provision 
for impairment of this investment (2014: $28,609,935) as principal and interest amounts totalling 
$100,638,818 were repaid during the year.

10. Investment Properties

 2015  2014
 $ $

11. Accounts Receivable and Prepayments

 2015  2014
 $ $
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12. Capital Reserve

This reserve includes appropriations transferred from retained earnings, as considered necessary by the 
Board of Directors.

13. Investment Re-measurement Reserve

In accordance with Bye Law 20 (viii), the Board of Directors has created an investment re-measurement 
reserve which consists of unrealised gains/losses on available-for-sale investments.

14. Reserve Fund

In accordance with the Co-operative Societies Act, 1971, Section 47 (2) and Bye-Law 50 (1) of the Credit Union, 
at least 10% of the net surplus for the year of the Credit Union is to be appropriated to the Reserve Fund.

15. Education Fund

In accordance with Bye Law 51 of the Credit Union, an amount not exceeding 5% of the net surplus for the year, 
after making appropriations to the Reserve Fund is transferred to an Education Fund. This fund is to be used 
for educational purposes, in accordance with Bye Law 46.

16. Charity Fund

In accordance with the Co-operative Societies Act, 1971 Section 50 and By-Law, an amount not exceeding 5% 
of the net surplus for the year, after making appropriations to the Reserve Fund, is transferred to the Charity 
Fund.

17. Group Life Reserve

The balance represents the accumulation of rebates received from Colonial Life Insurance Company 
(Trinidad) Limited from the policyholder’s reserve account. Rebates are issued based on claim experience 
and administration of the members’ group life insurance plan. 

18. Members’ Deposits

 2015  2014
 $ $

Retirees’ deposits 238,423,844 276,521,282
One year deposits 24,547,517 29,653,553
Unclaimed deposits      3,522,811       2,954,763

 266,494,172 309,129,598
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19. Accounts Payable and Accruals

 2015  2014
 $ $

Trade payable and accruals 13,536,730 10,211,525
Provisional deposits          559,331    2,392,140

    14,096,061  12,603,663

20. Retirement Benefit Liability

 2015  2014
 $ $

a)  Change in defined benefit obligations
Defined benefit obligations at start of year 17,156,000 16,193,000
Service cost 1,370,000 1,293,000
Interest cost 826,000 778,000
Actuarial loss on obligation (323,000) (720,000)
Benefits paid       (324,000)     (388,000)

Defined Benefit Obligation at end   18,705,000   17,156,000

b)  Change in plan assets
Plan assets at start of year 17,024,000 14,390,000
Expected return on plan assets 782,000 691,000
Actuarial loss (102,000) (36,000)
Contributions 1,082,000 2,367,000
Benefits paid       (324,000)     (388,000)

Plan Assets at end of year   18,462,000  17,024,000

c)  Items included in statement of financial position
Defined benefit obligation (18,705,000) (17,156,000)
Fair value of assets    18,462,000  17,024,000

Net IAS 19 defined benefit liability        (243,000)      (132,000)

d)  Items included in statement of comprehensive income
Current service cost 916,000 878,000
Interest cost 44,000 87,000
Administrative costs 35,000 37,000
Net actuarial loss recognised in the year                         -                              -

Net pension cost          997,000    1,000,000

e)  Reconciliation of opening and closing statement 
      of financial position balances

Opening defined benefit (liability) asset (132,000) (1,803,000)
Expense in statement of comprehensive income (997,000) (1,000,000)
Contributions paid        886,000      2,671,000

Liability recognised in the statement of 
   financial position       (243,000)       (132,000)
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20. Retirement Benefit Liability (continued)

 2015  2014
 $ $ 

f)  Actual return on plan assets
Interest on plan assets 1,436,000 948,000
Actuarial loss on plan assets       (719,000)    (258,000)

Actual return on plan assets          717,000     690,000

g)  Summary of Principal Assumptions
 2015  2014
 % %

Discount rate – prior to retirement 4.5 4.5
Discount rate – post retirement 4.5 4.5
Expense – prior to retirement (of contributions) 3.5 3.5
Expense – post retirement (of annuity) 3.5 3.5
Expected rate of salary increases 2.5 2.5
Expected return on plan assets N/A N/A

21. Members’ Shares

In accordance with existing IFRSs and given the substance and the nature of Members’ shares, this balance is 
accounted for as a liability and not as equity of the Credit Union. The Credit Union Bye Laws allow for the issue 
of an unlimited number of shares at $5.00 each.

22. Interest Income

 2015  2014
 $ $

Loan interest  55,409,890 53,364,456
Investment income   36,039,749 36,069,277

   91,449,639 89,433,733

23. Other Income (Net)

 2015  2014
 $ $

Insurance agency (net) 1,135,450 975,157
Beach houses (net) (See note 23 (a) below) (128,116) (220,913)
Coral Reef Guest House (net) (See note 23 (b) below) (762,214) (186,477)
Couva office (net) (244,819) (60,862)
Miscellaneous        832,375       (344,294)

         832,676          162,611
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23. Other Income (Expense) (continued)
a)  Beach houses (net)

  2015   2014 
 Rental   Surplus Rental   Surplus
 Income Expenses (Deficit) Income Expenses (Deficit)
 $ $ $ $ $ $

Mayaro
     House #1 41,305 69,270 (27,965) 30,435 104,741 (74,306)
     House #2 2,783 87,088 (84,305) 3,478 91,750 (88,272)
     House #3 39,304 58,657 (19,353) 33,565 56,175 (22,610)
     House# 4 67,913 78,950 (11,039) 75,217 112,844 (37,627)
Balandra Condo   29,305 14,759 14,546   44,348 42,446 1,902

Total 180,609 308,725 (128,116) 187,043 407,956 (220,913)

b)  Coral Reef Guest House (net)
 2015  2014
 $ $

Income   103,002   522,327

Expenses 
Bank charges 4,718 5,665
Cleaning supplies and toiletries 6,350 15,336
Contribution to national insurance 10,520 14,437
Cutlery and crockery 1,050 -      
Depreciation 116,482 129,070
Electricity 22,309 26,359
General maintenance 67,223 85,849
Insurance – fixed assets 65,974 62,648
Insurance - other 361 376
Legal and professional fees 31,500 18,000
Material and supplies other 103,636 13,205
Miscellaneous 102,717 14,320
Repair equipment -       2,850
Salaries 81,602 71,914
Security 125,112 74,880
Staff travelling 5,350 2,460
Stationery 1,060 8,753
Subsistence 37,085 42,455
Telephone and faxes 23,876 25,385
Wages 51,227 89,507
Water rates         7,064        5,335

Total expenses    865,216   708,804

Deficit  (762,214)   (186,477)
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24. Administration and Other Expenses

 2015  2014
 $ $

Advertising and promotions 1,743,337 1,261,147
Annual general meeting 470,888 419,987
Audit fees 408,481 367,865
Branch operations Couva 809,453 907,922
Branch operation Marabella 1,582,545 1,494,829
Branch operation Point Fortin 755,266 693,188
Co-operative development 771,899 986,773
Data processing 2,063,911 1,551,132
Depreciation 2,085,715 2,834,883
General maintenance 1,059,500 824,088
Insurance 141,988 123,598
Internet charges 189,116 180,806
Janitorial services 240,191 339,270
Legal and professional fees 896,171 651,230
Provision for bad and doubtful debt 1,001,097 2,000,000
Miscellaneous 274,454 268,952,
Office maintenance 278,033 145,196
Printing, postage and stationery 743,643 622,152
Security 86,064 248,642
Seminars and conventions 444,561 490,728
Staff training 706,306 1,458,198
Subscriptions 50,002 39,919
Telephone and electricity 497,786 518,674
Youth development        101,582         119,537

   17,401,989 18,548,786

25. Salaries, Wages and Associated Benefits

 2015  2014
 $ $

Contract services 6,300 6,000
E.A.P. charges 95,450 78,288
Salaries, pension and national insurance contributions 19,329,204 18,783,280
Staff related insurance 215,552 151,730
Staff travel 515,484 449,346
Uniform allowance 307,271 273,414
Wages         347,577       329,632

 20,816,838 20,071,690
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26. Office Building (net) Expenses

 2015  2014
 $ $

Income
Rental income      922,736      922,136

Expenses
Depreciation 366,517 368,970  
Electricity 48,767 45,000
Elevators 22,114 17,290
General maintenance 423,839 430,765
Insurance 151,354 152,689
Janitorial services 24,657 22,868
Legal and professional fees 34,000 12,000
Miscellaneous 969 21,801
Motor vehicle maintenance 5,328 10,039
Pest control 16,849 11,692
Rates and taxes 5,728 794
Repairs and maintenance -       8,227
Security 488,338 272,859
Wages and benefits       530,148      729,284

Total expenses    2,118,608 2,104,278

Deficit  (1,195,872)  (1,182,142)

27. Officers’ Expenses

 2015  2014
 $ $

Group Life  67,990 74,694
Meetings  365,171 324,074
Functions 78,930 7,470
Local travel 120,727 95,914
Allowances        151,556       104,541

       784,374     606,693

28. Employees

The number of persons employed at the Credit Union at December 31, 2015 totalled 152 (2014: 147).



77 ANNUAL REPORT 2015

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
December 31, 2015  |  expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollars

29. Fair Values

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The existence of published price quotation in an active market 
is the best evidence of fair value (see Note 3 (b)). Where market prices are not available, fair values are 
estimated using various valuation techniques, including using recent arm’s length market transactions 
between knowledgeable, willing parties, if available, current fair value of another financial instrument that is 
substantially the same and discounted cash flow analysis.

 The following methods have been used to estimate the fair values of various classes of financial assets and 
liabilities:

I. Current assets and liabilities 

 The carrying amounts of current assets and liabilities are a reasonable approximation of the fair values 
because of their short-term nature.

II. Members’ Loans

 Loans are net of specific provisions for losses. These assets result from transactions conducted under 
typical market conditions and their values are not adversely affected by unusual terms. The inherent rates 
of interest in the portfolio approximate market conditions and yield discounted cash flow values which are 
substantially in accordance with financial statement amounts.

III. Investments

 The fair values of investments are determined on the basis of quoted market prices available at December 
31, 2015.

IV. Members’ deposits

 Members’ deposits bear interest at rates that are not significantly different from current rates and are 
assumed to have discounted cash flow values which approximate carrying values.

(a)  Classification of financial instruments at fair value

 The Credit Union measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance 
of the inputs used in making the measurements.

 Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.

 Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. 
derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active 
markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are 
considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or 
indirectly observable from market data. 

 Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs.  This category includes all instruments 
where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs 
have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation.  This category includes instruments that are valued 
based on quoted prices for similar instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions 
are required to reflect differences between the instruments. 

 There were no transfers of financial instruments between levels during the year, neither were there any 
changes in the categorisation from the prior year.
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 The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities measured 
at fair value, including their levels – the fair value hierarchy.  

     Total
     Carrying
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Amount 
 $ $ $ $ $
As at December 31, 2015 
Assets
Available-for-sale 
  investments 114,115,801 2,300,001       -       116,415,802 116,415,802

As at December 31, 2014
Assets
Available-for-sale 
  investments 81,229,156 2,300,001       -      83,529,157 83,529,157

b) Financial instruments not measured at fair value

 The table below shows the financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value and analyses them by 
the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorized.  It does not include 
fair value information for financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is 
a reasonable approximation of fair value.

     Total
     Carrying
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Amount 
 $ $ $ $ $
As at December 31, 2015 
Assets
Held-to-maturity 
  investments 950,028,073         -       -        950,028,073 950,028,073

As at December 31, 2014 
Assets
Held-to-maturity 
  investments 746,126,855         -       -        746,126,855 746,126,855

30. Capital Risk Management

The Credit Union manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to members, and providing value to its members by offering loan and savings facilities. 
The Credit Union’s overall strategy remains unchanged from previous years.

The capital structure of the Credit Union consists of equity attributable to members, and comprises members’ 
shares, reserves and retained earnings.

29. Fair Values (continued)

(a)  Classification of financial instruments at fair value (continued)
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31. Dividends

The Board of Directors declared a dividend of 2.75% of the average value of members’ shares in issue 
throughout the year for the year ended December 31, 2014. This dividend amounting to $34.1 million (2013: 
$31.26 million) is not recorded as a liability in the statement of financial position, consistent with IAS 10.

32. Contingent Liabilities

As at December 31, 2015, there were certain legal proceedings outstanding against the Credit Union. No 
provision has been made as professional advice indicates that it is unlikely that any significant losses will arise

33. Related Party Transactions and Balances

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial decisions. 

Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the Credit Union.

A number of transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These 
transactions were carried out on commercial terms at market rates.

Balances and transaction with related parties and key management personnel during the year were as follows:

 2015  2014
 $ $

Assets

Loans to directors, key management personnel 
   and close family members 19,969,400 20,411,029

Deposits and other liabilities 

Deposits held by directors, key management 
   personnel and close family members    8,873,349   6,903,420

Shares held by directors, key management personnel 
   and close family members 22,941,808  18,891,129

Key management compensation

Short-term benefits   5,912,483 5,912,676
Post-employment benefits        291,895       261,040

   6,204,378     6,173,716
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34. New, revised and amended standards and interpretations not yet effective

Certain new, revised and amended standards and interpretations have been issued which are not yet effective 
for the current year and which the  Credit Union has not early-adopted. The Company has assessed the 
relevance of all such new standards, amendments and interpretations with respect to the Credit Union’s 
operations and has determined that the following are likely to have an effect on the financial statements.

• IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2016, has been amended to clarify or state the following:

- specific single disclosures that are not material do not have to be presented even if they are  minimum 
requirements of a standard;

- the order of notes to the financial statements is not prescribed;  

- line items on the statement of financial position and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income (OCI) should be disaggregated if this provides helpful information to users. Line items can be 
aggregated if they are not material;

- specific criteria is now provided for presenting subtotals on the statement of financial position and in the 
statement of profit or loss and OCI, with additional reconciliation requirements for the statement of profit 
or loss and OCI; and

- the presentation in the statement of OCI of items of OCI arising from joint ventures and associates 
accounted for using the equity method follows the IAS 1 approach of splitting items that may, or that will 
never, be reclassified to profit or loss.

The Credit Union is assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 2016 financial statements.

• Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38, Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation, 
are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. 

• The amendment to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment explicitly states that revenue-based methods of 
depreciation cannot be used. This is because such methods reflect factors other than the consumption of 
economic benefits embodied in the assets.

• The amendment to IAS 38, Intangible Assets introduces a rebuttable presumption that the use of revenue-
based amortisation methods is inappropriate for intangible assets.

The Credit Union is assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 2016 financial statements.

• Improvements to IFRS 2012-2014 cycle, contain amendments to certain standards and interpretations 
and are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. The main amendments 
applicable to the Credit Union are as follows:

• IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, has been amended to clarify when servicing arrangements are 
in the scope of its disclosure requirements on continuing involvement in transferred assets in cases when 
they are derecognised in their entirety. A servicer is deemed to have continuing involvement if it has an 
interest in the future performance of the transferred asset -e.g. if the servicing fee is dependent on the 
amount or timing of the cash flows collected from the transferred financial asset; however, the collection 
and remittance of cash flows from the transferred asset to the transferee is not, in itself, sufficient to be 
considered ‘continuing involvement’. 

IFRS 7 has also been amended to clarify that the additional disclosures required by Disclosures: Offsetting 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendment to IFRS 7) are not specifically required for inclusion 
in condensed interim financial statements for all interim periods; however, they are required if the general 
requirements of IAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, require their inclusion. 
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34. New, revised and amended standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued)

 The Credit Union is assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 2016 financial statements.

• IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2018, replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 
IFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, 
including a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment of financial assets and the new 
general hedge accounting requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and 
derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39. Although the permissible measurement bases for 
financial assets – amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value 
though profit or loss (FVTPL) - are similar to IAS 39, the criteria for classification into the appropriate 
measurement category are significantly different. IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 
with an ‘expected credit loss’ model, which means that a loss event will no longer need to occur before an 
impairment allowance is recognised.

 The Credit Union is assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 2018 financial statements.

• IFRS 16, Leases, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, 
eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, which distinguishes between on-balance 
sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet operating leases. Instead, there is a single, on-balance sheet 
accounting model that is similar to current finance lease accounting. Entities will be required to bring all 
major leases on-balance sheet, recognising new assets and liabilities. The on-balance sheet liability will 
attract interest; the total lease expense will be higher in the early years of a lease even if a lease has fixed 
regular cash rentals. Optional lessee exemption will apply to short- term leases and for low-value items 
with value of US$5,000 or less.

 Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice as the lessor will continue to classify leases as finance 
and operating leases. Finance lease accounting will be based on IAS 17 lease accounting, with recognition 
of net investment in lease comprising lease receivable and residual asset. Operating lease accounting will 
be based on IAS 17 operating lease accounting.

 Early adoption is permitted if IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers is also adopted.

 The Credit Union is assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 2019 financial statements.
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